
 

 
 

 

 
 

1 

Resources Department 
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 

 

 

AGENDA FOR THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, 

which will be held in Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on, 15 January 
2024 at 7.00 pm. 
 

 
 

Enquiries to : Theo McLean 

Tel : 0207 527 6568 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 5 January 2024 

 
Membership Substitute Members 
 
Councillors: Substitutes: 

Councillor Sheila Chapman (Chair) 
Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie 
(Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Fin Craig 
Councillor Ernestas Jegorovas-Armstrong 
Councillor Toby North 

Councillor Rosaline Ogunro 
Councillor Saiqa Pandor 
Councillor Claire Zammit 

 

Councillor Jilani Chowdhury 
Councillor Ilkay Cinko-Oner 
Councillor Paul Convery 

Councillor Benali Hamdache 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Heather Staff 

 

Co-opted Member: 
Mary Clement, Roman Catholic Diocese 

Vacancy Church of England Diocese 
Vacancy Primary School Parent Governor Representative 
Vacancy Secondary School Parent Governor Representative 
Vacancy Other Faiths Co-Opted Member 

 
Quorum is 3 Councillors 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

2 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Apologies for Absence 

 

 

2.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it 
becomes apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in 
the discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between 
you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) 
and the council. 

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a 
place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of 
the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

4.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

TO 
FOLLOW 

5.  Chair's Report 
 

 

6.  External Attendees (if any)  



 
 

3 
 

 

7.  Items for Call In (if any) 
 

 

8.  Public Questions 
 

 

 For members of the public to ask questions relating to any subject on the 

meeting agenda under Procedure Rule 70.5. Alternatively, the Chair may 
opt to accept questions from the public during the discussion on each 
agenda item. 

 

B.  

 

Items for Decision/Discussion 

 

Page 

1.  Bright Start and Families First for Children Pathfinder Programme 
Updates 
 

1 - 28 

2.  School Organisation Scrutiny Update 

 

29 - 46 

3.  Quarter 2 Performance Report 
 

47 - 84 

4.  Work Programme 2023/24 
 

85 - 86 

C.  

 

Urgent non-exempt items (if any) 

 

 

 Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered 
urgently by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will 
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

D.  

 

Exclusion of press and public 

 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the 
agenda, it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information within the terms of the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules in the Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the press and 
public during discussion thereof. 

 

E.  
 

Exempt items for Call In (if any) 
 

Page 

F.  

 

Confidential/exempt items 

 

Page 

G.  
 

Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently 

by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be 
agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 



 
 

4 
 

The next meeting of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee 
 will be on 26 February 2024 

 

Please note that committee agendas, reports and minutes are available  
from the council's website: www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


Bright Start - Quarterly Report

Data as at end of September 2023 (Q2)

Produced by Data and Performance Team

Islington Council, Laycock Centre, N1 1TH

Email: CYPData@islington.gov.uk

Report Date: 10 November 2023

Early Years and Childcare

Children and Young People Services

1

Page 1

Agenda Item B1

mailto:CYPData@islington.gov.uk


5. All differences are with the previous quarter.

2. Numbers reported in the Attendance section include all attendances for a particular activity unless 

otherwise specified (e.g. for Antenatal, we report each individual's attendance once (distinct counts) 

regardless if clients attended more than once in that quarter).

3. The 0-4 overall population estimates have been updated for 2023-24 and are based on the updated 

2022-23 academic year school roll projections produced by the Data and Performance Team using 

Greater London Authority (GLA) estimates that best fit the local knowledge. The updated estimate of the 

number of children aged 0-4 in Islington is 7% lower than the previous estimate.

 4. The percentage of the 0-4 population registered with Bright Start reported here includes all open 

cases regardless of whether clients may continue residing in the borough or not after the initial registration 

and whether there has been any recent engagement or not. Up to 10% of residents exercise their right to 

refuse registration on a council's system after the birth of their child.

6. The LBI 0-4 population figures by ethnic group are educated estimates. There is a long-standing 

difficulty in providing accurate breakdowns of the resident Islington population aged under 5 as there is no 

single data source that covers this age range. Of the sources we do have, differeent datasets use different 

ethnic categories. This can make it difficult to find figures for some of the more detailed ethnic groups that 

are a significant population in Islington. An agreed set of ethnicity estimates for the under 5s has, 

therefore, been derived internally from all available sources. A presentation with the methodology, sources 

and details for each LBI ethnic group is available on request.

 - Total numbers can include records with no BS area assigned to them.

Introduction and Notes

About the report
The purpose of this report is to monitor and evaluate Bright Start (BS) activities and demographics to 

inform service planning. It covers registrations by age and BS area, attendance at activities and ethnicity 

breakdowns. It is intended for service management and team leaders.                                                                           

The data used in the report comes from the EISi database, Synergy. 

1. For some indicators, the sum of parts does not add up to the total displayed. There are two possible 

reasons for this: 

Starting from the first quarter of 2023-24, the health visiting information is also included. It is provided by 

Whittington Health.

 - Clients can visit a BS centre in more than one BS area;

Notes on the data

2

Page 2



Key Findings
Registration 

1. Bright Start registration of children and families is increasing – this in Q2 is often due to the impact of 

the Summer Outreach Programme.

2. The percentage of registered Under 1s continues to increase as well as all other ages except for 4 year-

olds. 

3. The number of registered teenage parents is also increasing with the North having the largest cohort.                               

                                                                                                                                                                                           

4. 84% of under 5s have now been registered - this is an increase of 20% on the same time last year and 

1 percentage point more than Q1.                                                                                                                                      

                                                                                                                                                                        

Conception to 12 months - attendance 

5. Health Visiting contacts remain stable over the two first quarters of the year although a noted increase in 

antenatal contacts for Q2 both on the same time last year (172% increase) and from Q1 with the North 

and South more than doubling their contacts.

6. Breastfeeding rates remain stable across the three areas with just small differences amongst them. The 

decrease in the number of families accessing support in Q2 is due to the summer fixed closure. 

7. Antenatal and postnatal midwifery clinics continue to draw in a significant number of families.

8. The lower number of children attending under 1s sessions is due to the different summer holidays’ offer 

which is reflected in an increase of attendance at 0-5 Stay and Play sessions.

Attendance 

9. There has been an increase of Health Visiting reviews at 24+ months.

10. Family Support Surgeries have seen a large increase in attendance compared to Q2 the previous year, 

the access has more than doubled in one year.

11. The number of children attending SEND groups has seen a 35% increase since Q2 of last year 

confirming the progress made in creating more inclusive environments. However, there has been a small 

decrease in attendance since Q1 due to the different summer offer with some provision not running for the 

6 weeks of the holidays

12. More targeted sessions like Chatterpillar and Family Kitchen are term time only provisions which would 

explain the decrease in attendance in Q2. 

13. The largest ethnic group accessing services is White British, however the percentage of attendees 

from thisgroup is below the borough average. On the other hand, White Other is the second largest group 

of attendees, and its percentage is above the borough average and the same is for Asian. Mixed ethnicity 

is however below the borough average despite being the third largest group accessing Bright Start 

services.

14. The most diverse groups are SEND Stay and Play sessions, Family Support Surgeries, Parenting 

groups, 0-5 stay and plays and Baby Massage session.

15. The largest percentage of EAL families access Antenatal appointments, Chatterpiller groups and 

Family Support Surgeries.

3

Page 3



% difference

Difference

Difference

Difference

9 549 540

Q1

9200

Registrations by Bright Start Area

Number and % of 0-4 registered with Bright Start

70% 81861.8%

Partner: 152        Plus: 

245

Q1

Partner: 176       

Plus: 339

Q2 last year

Comparing numbers of Bright Start cases with Health Visiting caseloads, 0-4

Partner: 134          Plus: 

256

Q2

New registrations of children aged under 1 and under 3 years old

-135

Q2

73617583222

Number of families with a child aged 0- 4 registered with Bright Start

84% 83% 9039

484

Health Visiting Caseload 0-4

10337 10472 10546

Q2 last year

6440

Q2 - aged under 3 Q1 -  aged under 3 Q2 last year 

Q2  Q1 Q2 last year

Key: Taller bars 
represent
numbers of
children under 3

3083 3018
2695 2570

1653 1578

Q2 Q1 Q2 Q1 Q2 Q1

Central North South

241
264

44

181 218 33

Central North South

3716

3271

1909

4828

3791

2076

Central

North

South
Health Visiting

Bright Start

4

Page 4



Registrations by Bright Start Area

Percentage of under 1s registered at this point

Percentage of children aged 1 registered at this point

73.6

Percentage of children aged 2 registered at this point

73.6

Q1Q2

98.9 89.1

Q2 Q1

77.1

Q2 last year

59

Q2 last year

75.4

54

Q2 Q1

57
Q2 last year

64.8
71.8

85.8

68.1 69.7

89.3

Central North South

Q2 Q2Q1 Q1 Q2 Q1

83.4

104.3
110.0

76.7

91.1 93.6

Central North South

Q2 Q2Q1 Q1 Q2 Q1

74.4
75.0

71.8

70.2
69.6

68.5

Central North South

Q2Q1

Q2Q1 Q1

Q
1

Q1 Q1Q2 Q4Q2

5

Page 5



Percentage of children aged 3 registered at this point

82

Registrations by Bright Start Area

75.4 75.8

Q2 Q1

96.5
Q1

 Number of teenage parents currently registered (aged 16-19)

100.6

Q2

2124 14

Q2 last year

101
Q2 last year

Percentage of children aged 4 registered at this point

Q2 last yearQ2 total Q1 total

71.2 72.2
78.1

68.0
72.8

82.4

Central North South

Q2 Q1Q1Q1 Q2Q2

87.8

97.6 98.2

92.6

101.8

95.0

Central North South

Q2Q1 Q1

Q1 Q1 Q1Q2 Q2 Q4

9

11

4

5

6

3

Central North South

Q2 Q2Q1 Q1 Q2 Q1

6

Page 6



Difference

Difference

Difference

Attendance/Contacts - Conception to 12 Months

554

Antenatal - Distinct Contacts (aged 17+)

341

252214

Q2 total

26

Number of first face to face antenatal contact with a health visitor at 28 weeks +

Q2 last year

11
Q2 last year

240
Q2 last year

Postnatal Clinic - Distinct Contacts

-38

15

Q1 totalQ2 total

580

3015

Q1 totalQ2 total

Q1 total

8

2

20

3 4

8

South Central North

Q2
Q2 Q1 Q1Q2

Q1

7

Page 7



Difference

Attendance/Contacts - Conception to 12 Months

95% 97% 95%

Percentage of new birth visits (within 14 days of birth)

276 not reported

Q2 total Q1 total Q2 last year

Breastfeeding Support

-76 200

Q2 Q1 Q2 last year

Q2 Q1 Q2 last year

Percentage of children who received a 6-8 weeks review by the time they turned 8 weeks

77% 72% 73%

0.93

0.95
0.960.96 0.96

0.98

South Central North

Q2Q2 Q1 Q1Q2Q1

0.77

0.74

0.8
0.78

0.68

0.74

South Central North

Q2Q2 Q1 Q1Q2Q1

8

Page 8



Difference

Difference

Attendance/Contacts - Conception to 12 Months

Exclusively: 48% 

Partially: 35%

Exclusively: 48% 

Partially: 34%

Exclusively: 49% 

Partially: 33%

Percentage of infants recorded as being exclusively and partially breastfed at 6-8 weeks

224 65
Q2 total Q1 total Q2 last year

New Parent Groups

-162 62

Q2 last year

225 383 not reported

Q2 total Q1 total Q2 last year

Baby Massage (all attendances of babies and parents)

Q2 Q1

-158

0.51 0.53
0.41

0.49
0.56

0.43

South Central North

Exclusively

Q2Q2 Q1 Q1Q2Q1

0.29 0.31
0.420.37 0.34 0.32

South Central North

Partially

Q2Q2 Q1 Q1Q2Q1

9

Page 9



Difference

Difference

1423

Under 1s Stay and Play

-610

Attendance/Contacts - Conception to 12 Months

1959 2569

Q1 Q2 last year

716 776
Q2 Q1

Number of under 1s attending once or more

577

Percentage of children who received a 12 month review by the age of 15 months

Q2 total Q1 total

Q2

Q2 last year

84% 84% 84%

-60
Q2 last year

0.84

0.88

0.790.78

0.92

0.79

South Central North

Q2Q2 Q1 Q1Q2Q1

10

Page 10



Difference

Difference

Attendance/Contacts

0-5 Stay and Play

186 5350 5164 5422

Q2 total Q1 total Q2 last year

Number of under 5s attending once or more

Q2 Q1 Q2 last year

Percentage of children who received a 30 month review by the age of 30 months

84% 83% 81%

13 1650 1637 1349

0.8

0.84

0.86

0.84

0.81

0.84

South Central North

Q2Q2 Q1 Q1Q2Q1

11

Page 11



Difference

Difference

Difference

Physical Activity

Q2 total

-43

Q2 total

-150 398

-104

Family Support Surgeries - Distinct Contacts

SEND Stay and Play

Q2 last year

267
Q2 total Q1 total

Q1 total

110 153 51

Q2 last year

Attendance/Contacts

44

Q2 last year

193

548

Q1 total

371

95
17

41

25

75

11

497

5160

295

43

Central

North

South

12

Page 12



Difference

Difference

Difference

113

Q2 last year

Attendance/Contacts

Chatterpillars

Family Kitchen

-168

-17 51 68 35
Q2 total Q1 total Q2 last year

Q2 total Q1 total Q2 last year

82-125 62 187

Parenting courses (Incredible Years, Mellow Parenting, Parenting Workshops)

114 282

Q2 total Q1 total

44

139

99

37

31

87

100

0

32

52

30Central

North

South

10

41

Central

North

18

41

3

Central

North

South

13

Page 13



Parents/Carers Fathers/Male carers

Q2 total 2243 Q2 total 301

Q1 total 2281 Q1 total 341

Q2 last year 1850 Q2 last year 262

Attendance/Contacts

The number of 

fathers/male carers is 

displayed inside the total 

number of parents/carers 

attending once or more for 

the BS area

↓ ↓

Parents/carers and fathers/male carers attending once or more

963 973

577

136 144 43

Central North South

14

Page 14



Percentage registered in each BS area by age and ethnicity in Q2

Ethnicity by Registration

Percentage registered at all BS areas by age and ethnicity in Q2

Central

A
fr

ic
a
n

 

O
th

e
r

A
s
ia

n
 O

th
e
r

B
a
n

g
la

d
e
s
h

i

B
la

c
k
 O

th
e
r

C
a
ri

b
b

e
a
n

C
h

in
e
s
e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

e
d

O
th

e
r

R
e
fu

s
e
d

U
n

k
n

o
w

n

S
o

m
a
li

T
u

rk
is

h

W
h

it
e
 

B
ri

ti
s
h

W
h

it
e
 O

th
e
r

Aged 0 9.4 4.2 3.0 1.3 1.5 0.3 0.0 15.5 3.4 0.1 1.8 0.9 0.4 30.7 27.5

Aged 1 7.6 4.3 3.5 1.3 2.2 0.1 0.0 16.7 4.3 0.3 2.2 1.3 0.7 29.0 26.6

Aged 2 6.1 2.5 1.6 1.7 1.4 0.6 0.7 17.2 1.3 1.2 8.6 2.6 1.2 32.8 20.6

Aged 3 6.6 2.9 2.8 1.7 1.4 0.2 0.9 14.4 2.6 0.9 9.0 4.0 2.2 30.3 20.1

Aged 4 6.6 2.5 2.0 0.9 1.6 0.3 0.4 15.6 1.8 0.7 10.7 3.3 1.0 32.6 20.2

North

A
fr

ic
a
n

 

O
th

e
r

A
s
ia

n
 O

th
e
r

B
a
n

g
la

d
e
s
h

i

B
la

c
k
 O

th
e
r

C
a
ri

b
b

e
a
n

C
h

in
e
s
e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

e
d

O
th

e
r

R
e
fu

s
e
d

U
n

k
n

o
w

n

S
o

m
a
li

T
u

rk
is

h

W
h

it
e
 B

ri
ti

s
h

W
h

it
e
 O

th
e
r

Aged 0 8.5 4.8 3.8 3.4 2.8 0.3 0.5 15.1 5.7 1.3 3.9 2.3 0.7 24.3 22.6

Aged 1 8.8 2.2 2.5 2.9 2.7 0.8 0.0 18.7 3.7 1.0 5.5 2.5 1.2 29.4 18.0

Aged 2 4.9 2.7 3.2 1.8 1.8 0.7 0.2 17.9 3.8 2.5 9.7 2.2 2.9 27.4 18.2

Aged 3 6.5 2.2 2.2 1.9 3.3 0.6 0.6 17.2 3.7 2.0 7.2 4.4 2.8 27.8 17.6

Aged 4 7.2 3.4 3.5 1.9 3.5 0.7 0.8 14.4 3.4 1.2 7.6 3.4 2.0 29.4 17.6

South

A
fr

ic
a
n

 

O
th

e
r

A
s
ia

n
 

O
th

e
r

B
a
n

g
la

d
e
s

h
i

B
la

c
k
 

O
th

e
r

C
a
ri

b
b

e
a
n

C
h

in
e
s
e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

e
d

O
th

e
r

R
e
fu

s
e
d

U
n

k
n

o
w

n

S
o

m
a
li

T
u

rk
is

h

W
h

it
e
 

B
ri

ti
s
h

W
h

it
e
 

O
th

e
r

Aged 0 6.7 4.1 1.0 5.8 2.2 0.5 0.2 14.4 4.3 0.2 15.9 0.0 0.2 26.4 18.5

Aged 1 6.2 3.7 1.9 3.1 4.1 0.4 0.4 19.0 3.7 0.2 8.5 2.1 0.0 25.9 20.7

Aged 2 4.8 3.8 1.4 1.4 2.4 1.0 0.0 14.8 3.8 1.0 13.8 2.8 1.7 25.5 21.7

Aged 3 5.3 2.5 4.3 0.9 2.2 1.2 1.2 14.2 2.8 0.6 16.4 3.7 2.8 27.6 14.2

Aged 4 7.6 4.3 2.3 1.8 1.8 0.5 0.5 15.4 1.5 0.8 9.8 3.3 2.5 29.0 19.1

Overall A
fr

ic
a
n

 

O
th

e
r

A
s
ia

n
 O

th
e
r

B
a
n

g
la

d
e
s
h

i

B
la

c
k
 O

th
e
r

C
a
ri

b
b

e
a
n

C
h

in
e
s
e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

e
d

O
th

e
r

R
e
fu

s
e
d

U
n

k
n

o
w

n

S
o

m
a
li

T
u

rk
is

h

W
h

it
e
 

B
ri

ti
s
h

W
h

it
e
 O

th
e
r

Aged 0 8.2 4.4 2.7 3.0 2.0 0.3 0.2 14.9 4.3 0.5 7.3 1.2 0.5 27.0 23.3

Aged 1 7.6 3.4 2.7 2.3 2.8 0.4 0.1 17.5 4.0 0.5 6.0 1.9 0.7 28.1 21.9

Aged 2 5.3 2.8 2.1 1.6 1.8 0.8 0.4 16.7 2.6 1.6 12.0 2.4 1.8 28.9 19.5

Aged 3 6.2 2.5 2.8 1.5 2.2 0.5 0.8 15.4 3.0 1.2 11.2 4.1 2.4 28.4 17.7

Aged 4 7.0 3.2 2.5 1.5 2.4 0.5 0.6 14.9 2.3 0.9 9.9 3.3 1.8 30.7 18.7

BS total 

registered 0-4 6.9 3.3 2.6 2.0 2.3 0.5 0.4 15.9 3.3 0.9 9.0 2.5 1.4 28.6 20.4
LBI 0-4 estimates 

(updated in 2023) 8 3 4 2 3 1 1 18 4 n/a n/a 4 3 30 19

15

Page 15



Orange line represents LBI's Census 2021 population estimates (Source: ONS)

Percentage Ethnicity by Activity

Ethnicity breakdown in Q2

6
3 4

2 3 2 1
7

4
0

3 5
1

37

24

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Antenatal

5 5
0 0

12

0 0

14

0 0 0 0
5

40

19

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

New Parent

18

2
5

2
5

0 0

15

7

0

5 5
2

24

11

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

SEND Stay and Play

7

0 0 0

7
5

7
5

7

0 0

7

34

14

9

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Parenting Courses

0
3

9

0 0
3

0

9

3
0

3
0

11

34

26

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Family Kitchen

18

6 6 5 5
0 1

15

2 3
0

6
2

15 15

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Family Support Surgeries

16

Page 16



Percentage Ethnicity by Activity

Ethnicity breakdown in Q2

7 5
0 1 3

1 0

15

4
1 2 1 1

32

26

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Physical

10

1
4

1 3
0 0

4

10

1 1
4

0

26
31

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Chatterpillars

6
3 2 3 4

0 0

13

4
0

3 1 1

31

26

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Under 1s Stay and Play

8

4
2 2 3

1 0

13

3
1 2 3 2

34

22

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

0-5 Stay and Play

8 7
4

1 2 1 2

11

2 0 0

8

0

29
24

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Postnatal

6
3 2 3 4

0 0

13

4
0

3 1 1

31
26

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Baby Massage

17

Page 17



Note: Highlighted green is the largest ethnic group for the activity

Percentage Ethnicity by Activity

Ethnicity breakdown in Q2

2
5

1 1 1 2 0

16

0 0
3 1 1

26

39

A
fr

ic
an

 O
th

er

A
si

an
 O

th
er

B
an

gl
ad

es
h

i

B
la

ck
 O

th
er

C
ar

ib
b

ea
n

C
h

in
es

e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

ed

O
th

er

R
ef

u
se

d

U
n

kn
o

w
n

So
m

al
i

Tu
rk

is
h

W
h

it
e 

B
ri

ti
sh

W
h

it
e 

O
th

er

Breastfeeding Support
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

d
is

ti
n

c
t 

A
tt

e
n

d
a
n

c
e
s

A
fr

ic
a
n

 O
th

e
r

A
s
ia

n
 O

th
e
r

B
a
n

g
la

d
e
s
h

i

B
la

c
k
 O

th
e
r

C
a
ri

b
b

e
a
n

C
h

in
e
s
e

K
u

rd
is

h

M
ix

e
d

O
th

e
r

R
e
fu

s
e
d

U
n

k
n

o
w

n

S
o

m
a
li

T
u

rk
is

h

W
h

it
e
 B

ri
ti

s
h

W
h

it
e
 O

th
e
r

Antenatal 578 6 3 4 2 3 2 1 7 4 0 3 5 1 37 24

New Parent 42 5 5 0 0 12 0 0 14 0 0 0 0 5 40 19

SEND Stay & Play 131 18 2 5 2 5 0 0 15 7 0 5 5 2 24 11

Chatterpillars 68 10 1 4 1 3 0 0 4 10 1 1 4 0 26 31

Family Kitchen 35 0 3 9 0 0 3 0 9 3 0 3 0 11 34 26

Parenting 44 7 0 0 0 7 5 7 5 7 0 0 7 34 14 9

Physical 268 7 5 0 1 3 1 0 15 4 1 2 1 1 32 26

Family Support Surgeries 110 18 6 6 5 5 0 1 15 2 3 0 6 2 15 15

0 - 5 Stay & Play 1918 8 4 2 2 3 1 0 13 3 1 2 3 2 34 22

Under 1s Stay and Play 744 6 3 2 3 4 0 0 13 4 0 3 1 1 31 26

Postnatal 214 8 7 4 1 2 1 2 11 2 0 0 8 0 29 24

Baby Massage 133 3 4 2 2 5 0 0 14 0 0 2 1 3 43 23

Breastfeeding Support 143 2 5 1 1 1 2 0 16 0 0 3 1 1 26 39

LBI population as at Census 

2021 (Source: ONS ) 5.9 4.7 2.8 1.5 3.3 2.4 0.8 7.4 5 - - 2.6 2.2 39.8 21.5

18

Page 18



English as Additional Language (EAL)

Percentage of EAL clients attending activities in Q2

19

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Families First for Children 
Pathfinder Programme

Journey to date – November 2023

1

P
age 21



Purpose

The Families First for Children Pathfinder (FFCP) Programme launched in July 2023 as part of the implementation of the Government’s 
‘Stable Homes, Built on Love’ strategy. The Department for Education (DfE) and the Delivery Partner (DP) have since been working with three 
Pathfinder areas to co-design local models that deliver reforms across multi-agency safeguarding arrangements (MASA), family help, child 
protection and family networks, as well as the first four (of seven) Pilot sites to collect evidence around the effectiveness of new Family Network 
Support Packages (FNSPs).

This pack aims to provide the wider Children’s Social Care (CSC) sector with an overview of the FFCP Programme, outlining both the overall 
programme structure and the progress to date across three key workstreams:
● Pathfinders;
● Pilots; and
● Learning.

2

P
age 22



Context

The Independent Care Review and 
National Panel review made a 
number of ambitious 
recommendations to transform 
support and protection in children’s 
social care (CSC).

3

In response to these 
recommendations, the Department 
for Education (DfE) published its 
implementation strategy, ‘Stable 
Homes, Built on Love’, setting 
out a range of proposed reforms in 
CSC.

The DfE established the 
Families First for Children 
Pathfinder (FFCP) 
programme to facilitate 
system reform across MASA, 
family help, child protection 
and family network services. 

May 2022 Feb 2023 Jul 2023

P
age 23



FFCP Programme Overview

4

Pilot areas will test how Family Network Support 
Packages (FNSPs) can work within LA funding and 
governance arrangements

Family Help

Child Protection Family Networks

Pathfinders Reforms*

*A pathfinder differs from a pilot: A pathfinder is not seeking to prove that reform works, but to test how reform should be delivered most 
effectively on the frontline. This programme includes both a pathfinder across all reforms and a pilot focussing specifically on FNSPs.

The pathfinder will enable national government to understand the impact that reforms across MASA, family help, child protection and family 
networks have on the different sectors and partners involved, at a smaller scale, before making decisions on further roll out. 

Overarching 
system-level 
reform 

The pathfinders will run alongside a separate set of pilots that 
will be implemented in seven local areas.

Pilots*

P
age 24



FFC Pathfinder reforms

● Embed system-wide, ‘families first’ culture and language
● Engage families and children and young people in design and implementation
● Streamline and support effective information-sharing and systems
● Clarify and strengthen MASAs, ways of working and independent scrutiny
● Strengthen role of education as strategic safeguarding partner
● Clarify and confirm key outcomes

● Establish multi-disciplinary Family Help Services to provide seamless support 
for families across targeted early help and Child in Need (section 17)

● Integrate family help within existing systems and services
● Deliver an integrated family help ‘front door’ that is welcoming, effectively 

identifies risk and decides on the appropriate lead practitioner for a family
● Establish the Family Help Lead Practitioner (FHLP) role 
● Establish clear thresholds and a single family help assessment and plan for 

families
● Establish proportionate plans for case management, oversight and supervision

5

Overarching system-level reform (including 
MASA)

Family Help

● Establish the Lead Child Protection Practitioner (LCPP) role, underpinned by 
clear skills, responsibilities, processes for co-working with family help, 
supervision and case oversight 

● Operationalise a multi-agency child protection team (MACPT), secure 
dedicated resource across agencies and clarify its’ core functions ​

● Improving parents’ experiences and engagement with child protection, 
including through independent parental representation

● Establish family networks as a ‘golden thread’ throughout the reformed system 
● Align family group decision making (FGDM) and family group conferencing 

(FGC) with family help and child protection processes
● Test provision of practical and financial support via Family Network Support 

Packages (FNSP)

Child Protection
Family Networks

P
age 25



Key issues

6

● How to secure buy-in and build financially sustainable and equitable 
arrangements across partner agencies and national government, within current 
contexts and different frameworks/priorities

● Role of education: lack of statutory requirement
● Definition of ‘family’: how to reflect diverse communities with a range of needs
● Multi-agency information-sharing: logistics and national direction 
● How to effectively develop or retain independent scrutiny/accountability 

functions
● Clarifying and understanding outcomes

● Moving across thresholds 
● Case holding arrangements, including oversight and supervision (especially 

where FHLP is not a social worker and/or not employed by or based in the LA)
● FHLP role: training and development requirements, when FHLP should be a 

qualified social worker, parity across agencies/roles
● Transparency for families – ensuring they are aware of, can consent (or not) to 

and understand transitions
● Multi-disciplinary service: handling and maximising opportunities for tenders 

being re-commissioned during test and learn phase

Overarching system-level reform Family Help

● MACPTs: how to reconcile different partner frameworks, priorities and constraints; 
defining shared vision and purpose; challenges around securing dedicated resource from 
partners; issues around co-location; how to avoid de-skilling and abdication of 
responsibility across wider system; how to avoid escalation of risk earlier in system 

● LCCP role: defining the level/length of experience required; how to recruit to the role 
given concerns about burnout and retention; concerns about potential loss of 
independence in child protection conferences should LCPPs chair them; resource 
pressures around co-working between FHLP and LCPP; how to create a viable career 
pathway through the system

● Parental representation: how and when to offer to all families 

● Concerns that FNSPs could unintentionally create unsustainable, long-term 
dependency and a perceived ‘hierarchy of care’ with existing, enhanced 
packages of support available for family and friend foster carers

● What happens if or when families are refused FNSPs

Child Protection Family Networks

P
age 26



Pilots

● FNSPs will deliver funding directly to family networks for practical support , in cases where there is a barrier to keeping children within 
the family network that can be addressed through financial support

● The primary objective of the pilot is that FNSPs will create sustainable solutions to keep children living with their birth parents , where 
appropriate and in their best interests.

● When this is not the case, the use of an FNSP at pre-proceedings is aimed at smoothing a later transition into kinship care.

● Understand whether an FNSP reduces the likelihood of 
children at pre-proceedings stage entering the care system 
and understand barriers and facilitators to delivery.

● Gather additional data on the impact of an FNSP intervention 
at pre-proceedings, incl. information on the cost-effectiveness 
of the package and qualitative data on family experiences.

● Inform the scope of future national FNSP policy by 
evaluating how FNSP funding can be most effective at pre-
proceedings.

● Identify delivery challenges for the potential further roll-out 
of FNSPs. 

7

Family Network Support Packages (FNSP)

Aims of the pilot programme

● Wave 1 of the Pilot has gone live in four local authorities in 
September 2023: Brighton, Gateshead, Sunderland, as well as 
Telford and Wrekin.

● So far, FNSP funding has only been accessed in two of the 
four authorities.

● Key barriers raised by wave 1 LAs are around the cohort 
restriction on children in pre-proceedings and the cultural 
shift to practice.

Progress to date

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



School Organisation 
Scrutiny Update
January 2023

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 B
2



DR
AF
T

Putting Children First
• A strategic approach to school organisation in Islington 
that will enable all children and young people to do 
their best in strong, financially viable schools.

• Three big plans, one ambition: ‘driving educational 
excellence through inclusive, financially viable schools’ 
linking in phases to the Asset Management Strategy

• This presentation sets out the phased implementation 
of the School Organisation Plan and how it will reduce 
surplus places across our schools. 

• The current position is unsustainable and               
life chances for Islington children are being          
put at risk.

Asset Asset 
ManagementManagement
StrategyStrategy

2024-302024-30

P
age 30



Two Challenges: Pupil numbers and 
financial sustainability 

P
age 31



Primary 
• We have 536 surplus places in reception, in our 
primary schools.

• This is equivalent to 25% surplus capacity.
• The number of children in primary schools is 
decreasing. The total number on roll from 
Reception to Year 6 is now 12,112, compared 
to 13,598 five years ago

Secondary 
• We have 307 surplus places in year 7 classes in 
our secondary schools.

• This is equivalent to 18% surplus capacity. 
• Total number on roll from Year 7 to Year 11 is 
now 7259, compared to 7455 five years ago

Financial Sustainability 

• 23.1% of our schools projecting a deficit by the end of financial year 2023-24. 
• In total, this deficit equates to £4.5m

• The financial picture is set to worsen by the end of 2025-26 with 46.2% of schools forecasting to end the 
year in a deficit position.

Two Challenges: Pupil Numbers and Financial Sustainability 

P
age 32



Surplus Capacity by Planning Area

Planning 
Area

October 
2023 Roll - 
Reception

October 
2023
Reception 
Capacity

Surplus 
Reception 
Capacity

1 Holloway 357 465 23%
2 Hornsey 315 465 32%
3 Highbury 298 360 17%
4 Barnsbury 171 245 30%
5 Canonbury 268 340 21%
6 Finsbury 230 300 23%
Total 1639 2175 25%

Year 7 – 
October 2023 
Roll

Year 
7 Capacity 

Surplus Year 
7 Capacity

1401 1705 304

P
age 33



Reception – Year 6 Roll Projections by Planning Area

P
age 34



Two Solutions: School organisation 
plan and tightening management 
oversight of school deficits

P
age 35



Solution 1 - How do we decide what future plans look like?
The DfE advises LAs not to close schools unless every other alternative has 
been exhausted. The School Organisation Plan reflects this guidance. We 
have developed a methodology that routinely reviews the following variables 
to inform the prioritisation of our School Org Plan:
• Application preferences
• School vacancies against PAN
• Ofsted rating
• Outcomes in KS2 or KS4
• School balances (which are weighted higher than other factors)
• A factor for inclusion

P
age 36



Applying the Methodology

Step 1:
Understand demand and 

capacity - data and evidence

Step 2:
Apply the analysis

Step 3:
Review the prioritisation list  

Step 4:
Test the prioritisation list 
against contextual factors 
and agreed principles and 
criteria (e.g. community 

need, distances, equalities)

P
age 37



School Closure Process 
Stage Description Timeline
Proposal to go to 1st Stage Informal 
Consultation

Confidential exempt report to Council 
Executive 

Internal governance from CSMT 
through to Executive  = typically 8 weeks

1st Stage informal consultation Public consultation with published 
documentation and meetings not during 
school holidays

Timeline not prescribed - can be up to 6 
weeks

Outcomes of consultation reported and 
proposal to go to 2nd Stage of Statutory 
Notice

Formal report with recommendations to 
Council Executive 

Internal governance from 
CSMT through to Executive 

2nd Stage statutory notice issued and 
formal representation period 

Formal period prescribed at exactly 4 
weeks from date of local paper 
publication date

4 weeks 

Outcome of 2nd Stage consultation 
reported and final decision made

Formal report with final recommendation 
to Council Executive

Internal governance 
from CSMT through to Executive 

Implementation Implementation of the process includes 
staff consultation and school allocations 
for pupils

1 school term 

P
age 38



Who makes the decisions and the variables we cannot control

School Type Description Proposer  Decision making body
Community The local authority owns the buildings and 

determines admission arrangements
LA LA

Voluntary 
Aided

A trust or diocesan body owns the building, 
employs the staff and determine their own 
admission arrangements

LA or 
Governing 
Body

LA

Academy The trust owns or has a long lease on their 
site, they operate under a Funding 
Agreement with the government and can 
follow a different curriculum

Academy 
Trust

Secretary of State 
advised by RSC

Free school Schools that have opened as new 
academies, rather than being converted to 
an academy from a maintained school. A 
free school is still an academy and is funded 
and controlled in the same way as other 
academies

Academy 
Trust

Secretary of State 
advised by RSC

P
age 39



Phased Implementation of School Organisation Plan

Phase Actions Surplus places 
removed

Phase 1 of School 
Organisation

Amalgamation of Copenhagen and Vittoria by September 2023 (Removes 0.5 FE) 
The amalgamated Vittoria Primary School on the former Copenhagen site is now in its second term 
of successful operation
New River College now based on the former Vittoria site as an interim arrangement

Removes 2.5 FE (75 
places)

PAN Reduction of 4 schools agreed for September 24 (Removes 2 FE)

Phase 2 of School 
Organisation

Two proposals put forward for September 2024 Implementation - 
• Amalgamation of Duncombe and Montem Primary schools 
• Closure of Blessed Sacrament RC Primary School 
Informal consultations held in Autumn 2023

Primary – if all 
propoposals proceed 
this would remove 6 
FE (180 places)
Secondary – 
removes 4.8 (145 
places)

PAN reductions proposed at 5 primary schools and 5 secondary schools

Phase 3 of School 
Organisation

Schools with the biggest sustainability challenges have been identified

Dialogue is underway with these schools exploring solutions. 

TBC

P
age 40



Solution 2 - Managing School Balances
Setting a balanced budget is the responsibility of the governing body, and the LA can 
exercise statutory powers if this is not achieved. 
The Council cannot write off the deficit balance of any school
Three options for managing deficit balances:
• The individual school manages it, either in year or by way of a Deficit Recovery Plan, 
with LA support, monitoring, challenge and (potential) statutory intervention (impacts on 
the individual school’s pupils)
• A deficit recovery plan must be approved by two statutory chief officers: the 
Corporate Director for Children’s Services and the Section 151 officer

• The Dedicated School Grant (DSG),for de-delegation for schools in financial difficulty 
(impacts on all pupils/schools)

• The General Fund, when a school in deficit closes (impacts all residents)

P
age 41



Managing Deficit Budgets - Escalation Process 
• If progress within the agreed timescales of the Deficit Recovery Plan is not being 
met or at significant risk of not being achieved then the following stages are 
implemented. 

STAGE 1

•Project Groups for Schools with existing deficits and therefore working to a Deficit Recovery Plan (DRP)
•OUTCOME: LA - Monitoring and Challenge / SCHOOL - Self Management

STAGE 2

•Should the school not demonstrate a balanced budget, at any stage of the DRP being in operation (a breach of the Scheme for Financing Schools), a Notice of 
Concern will issue
•OUTCOME: LA - Notice of Concern and Formal Escalation Meeting / SCHOOL – Acknowledge NoC and prepare for Formal Review

STAGE 3

•Formal Escalation Meeting 
•OUTCOME: LA - Supplementary Notice of Concern and/or Additional Support / SCHOOL - Revised DRP

STAGE 4

•Should the school not engage with the LA and / or not start to demonstrate appropriate control and management of its finances, an assessment of the schools’ 
continuing ability to manage the deficit will be made and consideration of whether the Governing Body's right to a delegated budget should be suspended
•OUTCOME: LA – Decision to proceed with Statutory Intervention and Issues Formal Warning or Notification of Intention to Suspend Delegation 

STAGE 5

•Formal warning must contain the necessary actions that the governing body need to undertake (Section 66 of the Education and Inspection Act 2006). 
•Notice of intention to suspend the delegated budget with a time frame of at least a month, unless the circumstances are of such concern that suspension will occur 
in a shorter period of time or immediately (Section 51 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998).
•OUTCOME: SCHOOL - Action Plan in response to Warning Notice plan and must be submitted to the local authority within 15 working days. 

STAGE 6

•If the conditions set out in the Warning Notice are not met within the specified timescale or the Notification Period has elapsed, the Governing Body’s right to a 
delegated budget will be formally suspended.  
•OUTCOME:   Suspension of Financial Delegation

P
age 42



Risk 

• Academisation
Schools are able to apply to the DfE to academise. If successful, the LA is 
unable to propose closure. The Diocese of Westminster has approached the 
DfE to convert Blessed Sacrament into an academy. If this was to succeed, 
it would compromise the LA’s ability to manage the school estate
• SEND
Children with SEND are at particular risk during transition. There is 
additional risk of support for children with SEND being interrupted. The 
SEND team will require additional resource to ensure all EHCPs and needs 
are identified and supported consistently throughout any potential 
processes. 

P
age 43



DR
AF
T

Future proofing Islington Children's Future

• This strategic approach will enable all children and 
young people to do their best in strong, financially 
viable schools. 

• The School Organisation Plan will reduce surplus 
places across our schools. 

• Next steps will include developing phase 3 proposals, 
ready for initial consideration in Summer 2024

• The current position is unsustainable and               
life chances for Islington children are being          
put at risk.

Asset Asset 
ManagementManagement
StrategyStrategy

2024-302024-30

P
age 44



P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



    

 

 

Children’s Services 

222 Upper Street, London, N1 1XR 

Report of: Corporate Director of Children’s Services 

Meeting of: Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee 

Date:   15 January 2024  

Ward(s): All 

 

Subject: Children’s Services Quarter 2 2023-24 
Performance Report  

1. Synopsis  
1.1. The council has in place a suite of corporate performance indicators to help 

monitor progress in delivering the outcomes set out in the council’s Corporate 

Plan. Progress on key performance measures is reported through the council’s 

Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly basis to ensure accountability to residents and 

to enable challenge where necessary.   

1.2. This report sets out Quarter 2 2023/24 progress against targets for those 

performance indicators that fall within the Children and Young People outcome 

area, for which the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee has responsibility. 

2. Recommendations  
2.1. To review the performance data for Q2 2023/24 for measures relating to Children’s 

Services. 

 

3. Background  

3.1. The performance measures covered by this report are largely based on the 

Corporate Performance Indicator set, which is refreshed annually.  For 2023/24, 

the Corporate Indicators for the Children and Young People directorate have been 

selected from a wider set of measures within the service plans for 2023/24. The 

Page 47

Agenda Item B3



service plans are aligned with the Islington Together 2030 Plan, and this 

Performance Report is now structured using the missions within the 2030 Plan, 

along with the directorate’s objectives from our service plans.  

3.2. Some additional measures which are not Corporate Indicators are also reported to 

provide an overall context to the quality of provision in Islington, such as the 

proportion of schools judged to be good or outstanding by Ofsted.  Other 

additional measures remain included in these reports where it was felt they 

provide context to specific services, e.g. the number of Child Protection Plans for 

Safeguarding and Family Support. 

 

3.3. Note that not every measure is available or updated every single quarter.  

Therefore, there will be some gaps in the numbering used in this report.  Where 

applicable, performance is reported once comparator data becomes available, to 

give context to the performance. 

 

3.4. We are now providing additional breakdowns by pupil characteristics for education 

outcomes, in alignment with the breakdowns used in the Education Plan. 

 

4. Outstanding issues and queries from Q1 2023/24 
Performance Report 

4.1. The Q1 2023/24 Performance report was discussed at the Children’s Services Scrutiny 

Committee on 14th September 2023. There were two actions from the Q1 report: 

 Officers to provide the Committee with comparative data on electively home 

educated children that could be benchmarked with statistical neighbours.  This is 

included in the Q2 report – see 6.18. 

 Officers to provide the Committee with the evaluation report that had been 

completed by London Metropolitan University capturing the work of the Parent 

Champions Network. This is available as an attachment. 

  

Page 48



MISSION: CHILD-FRIENDLY ISLINGTON 

5. Resilient Children and Families 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2021/22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Actual 

2023/24 

Target 

Q2 

2023/24 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than Q2 

last 

year? 

1.1 
Children's social care 

contacts in the past month 

1,011 

(March 

2022) 

1,303 

(March 

2023) 

n/a 

1,099 

(Sept 

2023) 

n/a 

1,027 
(Sept 

2022) 

n/a 

1.2 

Percentage of re-referrals 

to Children's Social Care 

within the previous 12 

months  

17.5% 

16.1%  

(2022-

23) 

n/a 

14.7% 

(Q2 

2023/24) 

n/a 

18.8% 
(Q2 

2022/2

3) 

Yes 

1.3 

Inequalities measure - 

% of re-referrals to 

children's social care for 

Black-Caribbean children 

and young people 

21.4% 22.1% 

Less than 

4.9 % pts 

above LBI 

average 

16.9% 

(2.2% pts 

above LBI 

average) 

Yes 

17.5% 
(1.3% 

pts 
below 

LBI 
averag

e) 

No 

1.8 

Number of children who 

are the subject of a Child 

Protection Plan 

160 169 n/a  

181 

(Q2 

2023/24) 

n/a  

146 
(Q2 

2022/2
3) 

No 

1.9 

Corporate Indicator - 

Percentage of children 

who became subject to a 

Child Protection Plan for 

a second or subsequent 

time 

23.8% 24.0% 20% 41.9% No 27.9% No 

1.10 

Corporate Indicator – 

Number of Looked After 

Children (excluding 

Unaccompanied Asylum-

Seeking Children) 

320 290 281 

267 

(end of 

Sept 2023) 

Yes 

314 

(end of 
Sept 
2022) 

Yes 

1.13 

Placement stability - 

short term - Proportion of 

looked after children with 

3 or more placements 

over the course of the 

year 

10.9% 11.1% 

11% at 

end of 

year 

6.4% 

(Q2 

2023/24) 

 

n/a  

4.2% 
(Q2 

2022/2
3) 

No 

1.14 

Placement stability - long 

term - Percentage of 

children who have been 

looked after for more 

than 2.5 years who have 

been looked after in the 

same placement for at 

least 2 years or placed 

for adoption 

65.1% 

63% 

(2022-23 

FY) 

70%  

63.9% 

(Q2 

2023/24) 

n/a  

68.5% 
(Q2 

2022/2
3) 

No 

Page 49



 
1.1 - Children's social care contacts in the past month 

5.1. There were 1,099 children’s social care contacts in September 2023. This was slightly 
higher than the 1,027 contacts received in September 2022. For every month in 2023 

so far, the number of contacts received has been higher than the equivalent month the 
preceding year. 
Since the start of the 2023/24 financial year, there has been an average of 1,110 

contacts each month. 
  

The view of the Service is that the rise this year reflects the impact of the pandemic and 
the current economic crisis that result in increased stress factors family experience, we 
remain of the view that contacts made are appropriate and families receive early help 

services or social care services where needed. 
 

1.2 - Percentage of re-referrals to Children's Social Care within the previous 12 
months 

5.2. 154 out of the 1,049 referrals at the Q2 2023/24 were re-referrals within 12 months of 

the previous referral, which equates to 14.7% of referrals. This is lower than in the same 
period in 2022/23 (17.5%). 

1.15 

Number of children 

missing from care for 24+ 

hours 

8  

(March 

2022) 

9 

(March 

2023) 
n/a 

7 

(Sept 

2023) 
n/a 

8 
(Sept 
2022) 

Yes 

1.16 

Corporate Indicator - 

Increase in engagement 

rates at Adventure 

Playgrounds  

59.3% 60.3% 

+10% on  

2019/20 

figure 

58.6% 

56.2% 
(Apr – Sep 

2023) 
No 

60.0% 
(Apr – 
Sep 

2022) 

No 

1.17 

Corporate Indicator - 

Increase in total number 

of contacts at Adventure 

Playgrounds 

3,452 3,559 

~5,128 

similar to 

pre-Covid 

levels 

(whole FY) 

3,008 
(Apr – Sep 

2023) 
Yes 

2,727 
(Apr – 
Sep 

2022) 

Yes 

1.18 

Corporate Indicator - 

Increase in total number 

of participants at 

Adventure Playgrounds 

2,048 2,146 

~3,003 – 

similar to 

pre-Covid 

levels 

(whole FY) 

1,691 
(Apr – Sep 

2023) 

Yes 

1,637 
(Apr – 
Sep 

2022) 

Yes 

1.19 

Corporate Indicator – 

Increase in engagement 

rates at Youth Clubs and 

Centres 

41.6% 49.6% 

+10% on  

2019/20 

figure 

43.6% 

40.0% 
(Apr – Sep 

2023) 

No 

41.1% 
(Apr – 
Sep 

2022) 

Stable 

1.20 

Corporate Indicator - 

Increase in total number 

of contacts at Youth 

Clubs and Centres 

5,282 5,097 

~6,706 

similar to 

pre-Covid 

levels 

(whole FY) 

3,760 
(Apr – Sep 

2023) 

Yes 

3,581 
(Apr – 

Sep 

2022) 

Yes 

1.21 

Corporate Indicator - 

Increase in total number 

of participants at Youth 

Clubs and Centres 

2,196 2,528 

~2,927 

similar to 

pre-Covid 

levels 

(whole FY) 

1,504 
(Apr – Sep 

2023) 
Yes 

1,471 

(Apr – 
Sep 

2022) 

Yes 

Page 50



 
The recent DfE published figures show the % referrals which were within 12 months of 

a previous referral in the year ending 31 March 2023 to be 16.1% in Islington, in line 
with our statistical neighbours and below the inner London and national percentages. 

 

The service is of the view that the decrease is a result of the Practice Model being 
further embedded evidencing that the first period of intervention ensures more families 

are able to sustain changes and more children remain safeguarded. Therefore, less 
families are in need of another period of social care intervention.  
 
1.3 - Inequalities measure - % of re-referrals to children's social care for Black-
Caribbean children and young people 

5.3. Eleven of the 65 referrals that involved Black-Caribbean children and young people by 
the end of Q2 2023/24 were re-referrals within 12 months of a previous referral. This 
equates to 16.9%, which is 2.2 percentage points above the overall Islington average. 

 
The target is to be below a 4.4%-point gap, so this measure is currently on target. 

 
Compared to the same period last year, the % point gap with the overall re-referrals % 
shows an increase. However, the previous year’s end of quarter 2 figure for re-referrals 

for children from Black Caribbean ethnic group was reported as 21% at the time of Q2 
reporting last year, 3.5% point above the overall average. However, at the end of 

2022/23, the re-referrals % for Black Caribbean children was revised to 17.5%, 1.3% 
point below the overall average. This was due to retrospective updates on the 
“unknown” and “not obtained” ethnicities which resulted in the identification of more 

Black Caribbean children with referrals to children social care, while the number of 
those previously referred remained stable. This could potentially happen again this 

year, so the current gap could narrow as more ethnicities of children are recorded 
(ethnicities might not be recorded straight after a referral is made as the referrer may 
not know this but as the social worker works with the family this is explored and 

therefore records are updated). 
 
1.8 - Number of children who are the subject of a Child Protection Plan 

5.4. 181 children were supported by a Child Protection Plan at the end of September 2023. 

This is higher than the same point in 2022/23, when there were 146 children supported 

by a Child Protection Plan. 

 

2022/23 saw a significant drop in child protection plans, going as low as 146 at the end 

of Q2. This was unusually low for Islington. At the end of Q4 of that period, numbers 

had risen to 169 and have continued to rise to a level more in line with the last three 

years. This number now appears broadly in line with the needs of children in Islington. 

Care proceedings and children needing to be looked after has also reduced, leading to 

more emphasis on supporting children at risk of significant harm at home with their 

family, wherever safe to do so. 

 
1.9 - Corporate Indicator - Percentage of children who became subject to a Child 

Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time 

5.5. On average over the last few years, around four children a month become subject to a 

Child Protection Plan. This was the case for 4 of the 6 months in Q1 and Q2, but in 
Page 51



June there was a larger than normal number of plans where the child had previously 
been the subject of a plan and while the number decreased in July, it was still higher 

than the average.  
 
32 children (from 21 families) were newly supported by a child protection plan. 14 of 

these were repeat child protection plans, 44% of the total number of new CP plans in 
Q2. These 14 repeat plans concern children from 5 families. By the end of Q2, 36 of the 

86 plans that started in 23/24 involved a child who became subject to a Child Protection 
Plan for a second or subsequent time. 
 

Most plans so far this year have been repeated after a gap of 3 to 4 years. The main 
concern in terms of measuring the quality of intervention to reduce risk to children are 

plans that repeat within a two-year period of which five families are so far represented. 
The majority of families already had CIN plans or Early Help so there was support 
provided between CP plans. 

 
The measures introduced to reduce the number of repeat plans include (1) the CP 

Coordinator and their Service Manager being alerted to any potential repeat plan to 
ensure sound decision making, (2) prior to social work teams recommending for a CP 
plan to end, a consultation is sought to ensure any positive change for children’s 

outcomes can be sustained to reduce the risk of a repeat plan, (3) quarterly reporting to 
senior management around repeat plans. 
  
1.10 - Corporate Indicator - Number of Children Looked After (excluding 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children) 

5.6. At the end of Q2, there were 311 CLA, 44 of whom were UASC so there were 267 
children who were non-UASC. Currently, the service is overachieving the target of 

reduction of 9 CLAs. Overall CLA numbers have reduced by 16% which is a success, 
these children remain supported at home or with family members and all cases will be 
audited in Q3 to check the decision not to look after some children was correct and 

safe. In the next phase of the work the Director and Assistant Director are overseeing 
all children placed with Family of Friends carers to ensure that only children who need 

the state to have Parental Responsibility for them remain Looked After.  
 

1.13 - Placement stability - short term - Proportion of looked after children with 3 

or more placements over the course of the year 

5.7. As at the end of September 2023, 20 of the 311 looked after children had three or more 

placements during the year, equating to 6.4%. It should be noted that this measure 
resets at the start of each financial year, so the percentage tends to be low early in the 
new year, with larger increases towards the end of the financial year.   

 
As a comparison, at the end of Q2 in 2022/23, 16 of the 379 looked after children 

(4.2%) had three or more placements during the year to date. 
 
1.14 - Placement stability - long term - Percentage of children who have been 

looked after for more than 2.5 years who have been looked after in the same 
placement for at least 2 years or placed for adoption 

5.8. At the end of September 2023, there were 97 children looked after for more than 2.5 
years, 62 of whom had been in the same placement for at least 2 years or were placed 
for adoption.  This makes a total of 63.9% of looked after children in long term stable 

Page 52



placements. The long-term target is to increase long term placement stability to 70%.  
Normally performance fluctuates between 60% and 70%, so the current performance is 

in line with recent trends.   
 
We now look at what the end of year figure could be, given the current ages of the 

looked after children, who would be looked after for at least 2.5 years and who is in a 
stable placement.  If there are no further changes (e.g. a child ceasing to be looked 

after or ending a previously stable placement), the end of year figure is on course to be 
71.8%, above the target. 
  
1.15- Number of children missing from care for 24+ hours 

5.9. There were 7 different children missing from care for 24+ hours in September 2023.  

This is one fewer than the same point in 2022 and two fewer than in March 2023, 
 
The Exploitation and Missing team continue to prioritise quality assuring the service’s 

response to young people who are missing or away from placement without 
authorisation. This work includes professional training, daily reviewing of missing 

episodes, collating missing briefings for senior managers and chairing the strategy 
meetings when a young person is missing. 

  

1.16 - Corporate Indicator - Increase in engagement rates at Adventure 
Playgrounds 

5.10. This indicator measures the participant to contact rate of those age 5 to 25 who 

attended Adventure Playgrounds and those aged 5-12 who attended Rose Bowl. 

Contacts are defined as unique individuals who attended a single provider at least once 

during the reporting period. Participants are defined as unique individuals who attended 

a single provider 5 or more times during the reporting period. 

 

The rate of engagement in Q2 2023/24 was 56.2%. This figure is down from the same 

period last year when the rate was 60%. The target is to have 10% increase in rates 

compared to pre-covid figures. 2019/20 full year engagement figure was 58.6% so Q2 

figure is below the target. 

 

In order to deliver high levels of participation, it is important to have consistent and 

stable staff and service delivery in order to develop positive and strong relationships 

with children. During this year, there have been gaps in staff in a number of 

playgrounds, as key staff have moved on. Subsequently, the participation rate was 

affected. Cornwallis Adventure Playground remained closed for the whole year and 

even though an alternative Play offer was delivered in green spaces, this did not 

compensate for the closure and deliver the stable service that is required for high 

participation rates. All playgrounds now have permanent and stable management in 

place and Cornwallis reopened in Q3. This should lead to increased numbers of 

children participating overall. 

 
1.17 - Corporate Indicator - Increase in total number of contacts at Adventure 

Playgrounds 

5.11. Quarter 2 figures show 3,008 contacts aged 5-25 at Adventure Playgrounds and aged 

5-12 at Rose Bowl. This quarter’s figures were higher than the same period last year. 
Page 53



 

The target is to have increased numbers in line with pre-covid levels. The full 2019/20, 

pre-covid year figure was 5,128 so the figures at the end of Q2 are on track to meet the 

target. 

 

The increase in contacts is likely to be due to participants being taken to these services 
more frequently than in the previous year. Whilst the number of participants is lower 
than we would like, the increase in contact is likely down to parents utilising the offer 

more in order to socialise and nurture their children. Families have been under 
increased pressure in recent times – due to the pandemic and the cost and living crisis 

– and so those who are more vulnerable are making fuller use of services. In addition, 
some parents may take their children to different adventure playgrounds which 
increases the contact level. 

 

1.18 - Corporate Indicator - Increase in total number of participants at Adventure 

Playgrounds 

5.12. Quarter 2 figures show 1,691 participants aged 5-25 at Adventure Playgrounds and 

aged 5-12 at Rose Bowl. This quarter’s figures were slightly higher than the same 

period last year.  

 

Target is to have increased numbers in line with pre-covid levels. The full 2019/20, pre-

covid year figure was 3,003 so the figures at the end of Q2 are on track to meet the 

target. 

 

There has been increased promotion of our offer in Adventure playgrounds across the 

borough in recent times in order to make sure that more parents are aware of how they 
can ensure that their children access this service. It is a priority of the service to ensure 
that this promotion continues, as the adventure playgrounds have the capacity and 

there is an increased level of need of children in the borough due to a variety of social 
factors. 

 
1.19 - Corporate Indicator - Increase in engagement rates at Youth Clubs and 
Centres 

5.13. This indicator measures the participant to contact rate of those age 5 to 25 who 

attended Youth Provision and those aged 13-25 who attended Rose Bowl. Contacts are 

defined as unique individuals who attended a single provider at least once during the 

reporting period. Participants are defined as unique individuals who attended a single 

provider 5 or more times during the reporting period. 

 

The rate of engagement in Q2 2023/24 was 40.0%. While there was an increase in both 

the number of contacts and participation compared to same period last year, the 

engagement figure is slightly down from the same period last year, when the rate was 

41.1%.  

 

The target is to have 10% increase in rates compared to pre-covid figures. 2019/20 full 

year engagement figure was 43.6% so Q2 figure is below the target. 

 

Page 54



The participation rate can be affected by programming decisions within our youth clubs, 

For example, youth provisions putting on performance showcases may result in a larger 

number of one-off attendances.  This can be difficult for provisions that focus on music, 

dance etc. as it is important that young people have the opportunity to perform and 

celebrate the skills that they have developed. Commissioners are working with 

providers to use reporting tools available to identify young people who have attended a 

provision between one and four times so that they can be contacted and provided with 

an invitation to return. 

 
1.20 - Corporate Indicator - Increase in total number of contacts at Youth Clubs 

and Centres 

5.14. Quarter 2 figures show 3,760 contacts aged 5-25 at Youth providers and aged 13-25 at 

Rose Bowl. This quarter’s figures were higher than the same period last year. 

 

Target is to have increased numbers in line with pre-covid levels. The full 2019/20, pre-

covid year figure was 6,706 so if there are similar number of contacts in the following 

quarters, this indicator will meet or exceed the target at the of the financial year. 

 
The networks that come together and which are aligned under Young Islington have 

been much more proactive in promoting and highlighting the offer that is available for 
young people in the borough. The networks meet bi-monthly and have established a 

variety of ways of ensuring that young people are aware of the universal services 
including through an expanded and broader detached and outreach offer (which means 
that young people engaged with on the streets and on estates can be signposted) and 

through making more schools aware. The Youth Council has also been instrumental 
here and have also helped in this regard. Such promotional activity will continue and 

may result in increased numbers of contacts in due course. In addition, many of the 
young people who have been engaging with youth hubs have increased their usage.  
 
1.21 - Corporate Indicator - Increase in total number of participants at Youth 
Clubs and Centres 

5.15. Quarter 2 figures show 1,504 participants aged 5-25 at Youth providers and aged 13-25 

at Rose Bowl. This quarter’s figures were higher than the same period last year. 

 

Target is to have increased numbers in line with pre-covid levels. The full 2019/20, pre-

covid year figure was 2,927 so if there are similar number of participants in the following 

quarters, this indicator will meet the target of the pre- covid financial year. 

 

Some of the young people have taken some time to fully reengage with the youth 
spaces since the pandemic commenced. As these young people become more 
comfortable in living with Covid as a common condition/virus, more of them have 

returned to the youth clubs. In addition, some of the young people using the youth clubs 
have ‘aged out’ and have been replaced by a newer and younger cohort. Promotion of 

the youth hubs will also continue in order to ensure that the number of participants 
continues to increase steadily. 
 

 
 

Page 55



 
 

6. Lifelong learning, skills and enrichment   

 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2021/22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Actual 

2023/24 

Target 

Q2 

2023/24 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than Q2 

last 

year? 

2.1 

Percentage of good and 

outstanding early years 

settings 

95.6% 

(March 

2022) 

95.1% 

(March 

2023) 

>Inner 

London 

95.4% 

(August 

2023) 

96.4% 

(August 

2023) 
Yes 

95.1% 
(August 
2022) 

Yes 

2.2 

Percentage of good and 

outstanding Islington 

schools (all phases) 
92.5% 

97.1% 

(March 

2023) 

>Inner 

London 

96.0% 

(Sept 

2023) 

95.5% 

Sept 

2023) 
No 

94.1% 
(Sept 
2022) 

Yes 

2.3 

% of pupils achieving a 

Good Level of 

Development in the Early 

Years Foundation Stage 

Profile 

64.7% 66.6%  

>Inner 

London 

69.1% 

66.6% 
(2022/23) No 

64.7% 
(2021/2

2) 

n/a – 

new 

framewor

k 

2.4 

Corporate Indicator - 

Take up of 2-year-old 

FEEE places by low-

income families, children 

with Special Educational 

Needs or Disabilities 

(SEND) and children who 

are looked after   

70% 

(Spring 

term 

2021/22 

AY) 

75% 

(Spring 

2023) 

>same 

period 

previous 

year 

66% 
(Autumn 

2023) 
No 

76% 
(Aut-
2022) 

No 

2.5 

Corporate Indicator - % 

rate of suspensions at 

Islington primary schools 

1.81 TBC 

<0.28 

(Inner 

London 

figure) 

0.59 
(Autumn 
2022/23) 

No 

0.69 
(Aut 

2021/2
2) 

Yes 

2.6 

Corporate Indicator - % 

rate of suspensions at 

Islington secondary 

schools 

21.84 TBC 

<3.37 

(Inner 

London 

figure) 

7.71 
(Autumn 
2022/23) 

No 

6.00 
(Aut 

2021/2
2) 

No 

2.7 

Inequalities measure - 

% rate of suspensions for 

pupils with SEND at 

Islington primary schools 

7.28 TBC 

<1.28 

(Inner 

London 

figure) 

2.02 
(Autumn 
2022/23) 

No 

2.78 
(Aut  

2021/2
2) 

Yes 

Page 56



2.8 

Inequalities measure - 

% rate of suspensions for 

pupils with SEND at 

Islington secondary 

schools 

45.49 TBC 

<7.97 

(Inner 

London 

figure) 

17.64 
(Autumn 
2022/23) 

No 

13.79 
(Aut 

2021/2
2) 

No 

2.9 
Inequalities measure - 

% rate of suspensions for 

Mixed - White & Black-

Caribbean pupils at 

Islington primary schools 

3.95 TBC 

<0.75 

(Inner 

London 

figure) 

1.48 
(Autumn 
2022/23) 

No 

1.64 
(Aut 

2021/2
2) 

Yes 

2.10 
Inequalities measure - 

% rate of suspensions for 

Mixed - White & Black-

Caribbean pupils at 

Islington secondary 

schools 

65.35 TBC 

<8.76 

(Inner 

London 

figure) 

21.78 
(Autumn 
2022/23) 

No 

20.00 
(Aut 

2021/2
2) 

No 

2.11 Corporate Indicator - % 

rate of persistent 

absence from Islington 

primary schools 

18.4% 

(21/22 

AY) 

TBC – 

Q4 

in line or 

below 

Inner 

London 

20.2% 

21.0% 
(Aut-Spr 

terms 
2022/23) 

No 

16.6% 
(Aut-
Spr 

terms 
2021/2

2) 

Higher 

2.12 Corporate Indicator - % 

rate of persistent 

absence from Islington 

secondary schools 

26.5% 

(21/22 

AY) 

TBC – 

Q4 

in line or 

below 

Inner 

London 

22.6% 

27.2% 
(Aut-Spr 

terms 
2022/23) 

No 

24.8% 
(Aut-
Spr 

terms 
2021/2

2) 

Higher 

2.13 Corporate Indicator - % 

of pupils meeting the 

expected standard in the 

phonics screening check 

in year 1 

76.6% 
79.0%  

(2022/23) 

in line or 

above 

Inner 

London – 

80.6% 

79.0%  
(2022/23) 

No (but 
within 5% 
margin) 

76.6% Yes 

2.14 Corporate Indicator - % 

of pupils meeting the 

expected standard in the 

phonics screening check 

by the end of year 2 

88.7% 
88.5%  

(2022/23) 

in line or 

above 

Inner 

London – 

88.3% 

88.5%  
(2022/23) 

Yes 88.7% Stable 

2.15 
Corporate Indicator - 

Key Stage 1 - Reading at 

expected standard 

71.4% 
70.0% 

(2022/23) 

in line or 

above 

Inner 

London – 

71.3% 

70.0% 
(2022/23) 

No (but 
within 5% 
margin) 

71.4% No 

2.16 

Corporate Indicator - 

Key Stage 2 - Expected 

standard in Reading, 

Writing & Maths 

63.3% 65.0% 
in line or 

above 

Inner 

65.0%  No 63.3% Yes 

Page 57



 
 

2.1 - Percentage of good and outstanding early years settings 

6.1. As at the end of August 2023, 160 of Islington’s 166 (96.4%) registered early years 
settings that had been inspected by Ofsted had received a good or outstanding 

inspection outcome. This puts Islington above the target, based on Inner London’s 
overall performance, which was 95.4% at the same point. 
 

Islington was level with the overall national average (96.5%), whereas generally 
inspection outcomes for London boroughs have tended to be just below the national 

average in recent years. 
 
Four of the six providers judged as below good are childminders who have not had 

children on roll for some time and did not have children at the point of inspection.  One 
group provider with RI has now resigned their registration.  Currently, there is only one 

Islington early years provider with children on roll that is judged as RI. We have 
discussed our concerns about this provider, directly with Ofsted.  
 

It remains the case that 100% of LBI managed nurseries have a good or better 
outcome, with 5 out of the 9 judged to be outstanding.  

 
2.2 - Percentage of good and outstanding Islington schools (all phases) 

6.2. The percentage of good and outstanding Islington schools (all phases) at the end of Q2 

was 95.5% The breakdown of Islington schools’ inspection outcomes by phase is: 
 

 Nursery 100% (3/3 – 1 outstanding and 2 good) 

London – 

67.5% 

2.17 KS4 – Attainment 8 (A8) 49.9 

46.6 
(2022/23 
provision

al) 

in line or 

above 

Inner 

London – 

49.6 

(provision

al) 

46.6 
(2022/23 
provisio

nal) 

No 49.9 No 

2.19 

16 and 17-year-olds (Year 

11 & 12 September 

Guarantee cohorts) have a 

confirmed and suitable 

offer of employment, 

education and training.    

96.7% 
97.1% 

(Provisio
nal) 

=>97.5% 

97.1% 

(provisio
nal) 

No 96.7% Yes 

2.20 
Number of Electively 

Home Educated pupils  

258 

(March 

22) 

294 
(March 

23) 
n/a 

314 
(Sept 
2023) 

n/a 
251 

(Sept 
2022) 

Higher 

Page 58



 Primary 95% (44/44 – 9 outstanding, 33 good, 1 requires improvement, 1 
inadequate) 

 Secondary 90% (10/10 – 5 outstanding, 4 good, 1 requires improvement) 
 Special 100% (6/6 – 4 outstanding and 2 good) 
 PRU 100% (4/4 – 2 outstanding and 2 good) 

 
The target for this measure is to be at or above the Inner London figure for good or 
outstanding inspection outcomes. The Inner London figure at the end of Q2 2022/23 

was 96.0% (of inspected schools), so Islington was below this target. 
 
With 67 settings across Islington, one school represents 1.5%, so currently the borough 

is one school below the Inner London Target of 96.0%.  
 

Fifteen schools within the current OFSTED inspection window have been allocated an 

Islington Professional Partner (IPP) who have been providing external advice and 

support in preparation for their next Ofsted Inspection. 

 
There were inspections across the Autumn Term in seven of our nursery, primary and 

special school settings. Four have retained good or outstanding judgements with three 

reports expected to be published early in the Spring Term 2024. 
 

A programme of School Improvement Groups (SIG) also supplements the work of the 

Islington Professional Partners and provides the strategic oversight of the school 
improvement work being provided to the schools so that all strands of support are 

aligned and focused on the priorities required to secure good judgements at each 
setting’s next Ofsted inspection. 

 
2.3 – % of pupils achieving a Good Level of Development in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage Profile 

6.3. The revised DfE figures show 66.6% of Islington pupils achieved a Good Level of 
Development in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile. Islington’s figure is below the 
provisional national average (67.2%) and below the inner London (69.1%) average. 

 
The target is to be in line with or above the Inner London average, so the target was not 

met for this measure. 
 

The following figures shows how Islington performed against inner London and the 

national averages for the breakdowns used to monitor the Education Plan: 

 

Group 
Islington - 

2022/23 

Inner London –

2022/23 

England - 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 57.1% 59.7% 51.6% 

SEN Support 32.9% 27.9% 24.3% 

Education, Health & Care Plans 5.2% 5.2% 3.8% 

Black Caribbean 60.6% 61.4% 61.5% 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 65.8% 63.8% 64.2% 

 

The percentage of children in Islington reaching the Good Level of Development in 

Islington has risen 2% since the new assessment framework was introduced last year 
Page 59



and gaps have narrowed.  Historically, the LBI figure has always been slightly lower 

than inner London and for the last 2 years, Islington has been the only borough to have 

continued its rigorous moderation programme, so we are confident that teacher 

assessments are accurate. The 2.5% gap between LBI and Inner London is the 

equivalent of 46 fewer children in Islington reaching the good level of development.  

LBI scores for children with SEND support are higher than those of inner London and 

over 8% higher than national which is positive given the rising number of children with 

emerging or identified needs in Islington reception classes and the fact that Islington 

has a significantly higher proportion of children with SEND than Inner London. Out of a 

total of 1792 children who were assessed for the EYFS Profile at the end of reception, 

306 (17%) were identified with SEND (5.4% of these with an EHCP). 

 

The DfE and Ofsted continue to stress that the EYFSP is a low stakes attainment 

measure with the sole purpose of providing accurate information for the Yr. 1 teacher 

and parents. 
 
2.4 – Corporate Indicator - Take up of 2-year-old FEEE places by low-income 
families, children with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND) and 

children who are looked after   

6.4. The Autumn 2023/24 term take up was 66%. This is based on 486 funded 2-year-olds 

taking up places, out of a potential 741 who were listed on the September 2023 list 
provided by the DWP. 
 

We see seasonal variation in performance, so take up figures are compared to the 
same point in the previous year In Autumn 2022, 76% of eligible 2-year-olds were 

taking up places so this measure has not met the target. 
 
The significant drop in take up is unexpected considering the continued intensive 

engagement with families, professionals and providers, there has been no change in 
our approach to suggest this change. However, the June DWP list of eligible families 

was not made available to local authorities until mid-July, leaving very little time for 
outreach activity and for families to respond to direct communications encouraging them 
to check their eligibility, visit nurseries, sign up etc. There are also some smaller 

variances which, taken collectively, have impacted the overall picture. For example, the 
National early years staffing crisis has impacted some settings ability to offer the full 

range of places where they are having difficulties covering staff shortages. PVI settings 
have seen a small drop in take up of places although the biggest drop has been in 
some of our school settings. The reduction in number of children eligible also means 

higher levels of variance. 
 

We will be carrying out a deep dive into data to evaluate patterns and trends to inform 
our outreach plan and reviewing other data sources to identify potentially eligible 
families and remove our reliance on the DWP data.  We are also reviewing our 

engagement strategy to work more closely with providers where take up is lowest. 
 

We expect to be back on target by Summer 2024. However, there is careful messaging 
regarding the childcare expansion launching early next year to ensure that all families 
are aware of their entitlement and know how to access the broad offer.   

 Page 60



2.5 – Corporate Indicator - % rate of suspensions at Islington primary schools 

6.5. 2022/23 Autumn term published figure showed Islington primary schools to have 0.59% 

suspension rate. The target is to be below the inner London rate which was 0.28%, so 

the target for this year was not met.  Islington was in line with the national average 

(0.58%) and ranked 91 out of 150 local authorities for the lowest rate of suspensions. 

 

The following % rate of suspensions table shows how Islington’s primary schools 

performed against inner London and the national averages for the breakdowns used to 

monitor the Education Plan:  

 

Group 

Islington - 

Autumn 

2022/23 

Inner London – 

Autumn 

2022/23 

England - 

Autumn 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 0.96 0.51 1.45 

SEN Support 1.57 1.12 2.68 

Education, Health & Care Plans 3.72 1.89 5.81 

Black Caribbean 1.37 0.72 1.14 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 1.48 0.75 1.19 

 

Local provisional data for Autumn 2023 indicates there were 37 suspensions from 13 

primary schools compared to 79 suspensions from 21 primary schools for the same 

comparative period last year in Autumn 2022. These figures suggest a drop of over 

50% in primary suspensions across the borough. 

 

8 fewer primary schools issued any suspension during the Autumn Term 2023 when 

compared to Autumn 2022. This means that 32 primary schools (equivalent to 71% of 

all primary schools in the borough) had no suspensions at all during the Autumn Term 

2023 compared to 24 schools (equivalent to 53%) in the Autumn Term 2022. 

 

These significant reductions have been achieved through targeted interventions for 

those schools with the highest rates of suspensions. For example, Project Group 

support, roll-out across 10 primary schools of the London Mayor's Inclusive and 

Nurturing Schools Programme which focuses on reducing suspensions through whole 

school strategies addressing inclusion and healthy relationships, and outreach from 

New River College Primary. 
 

2.6 - % rate of suspensions at Islington secondary schools  

6.6. 2022/23 Autumn term published figure showed Islington secondary schools to have 

7.71% suspension rate. The target is to be below the inner London rate which was 

3.37%, so the target for this year was not met.  Islington was also above the national 

average (5.90%) and had the 129th lowest rate of suspensions out of 150 local 

authorities. 

 

The following % rate of suspensions table shows how Islington’s secondary schools 

performed against inner London and the national averages for the breakdowns used to 

monitor the Education Plan:  

Page 61



 

Group 

Islington – 

Autumn 

2022/23 

Inner London – 

Autumn 

2022/23 

England - 

Autumn 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 12.06 5.52 14.47 

SEN Support 17.26 7.65 15.41 

Education, Health & Care Plans 19.60 9.16 16.45 

Black Caribbean 17.20 7.48 7.09 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 21.78 8.76 11.21 

 

Local provisional data for Autumn 2023 indicates there were 514 secondary 

suspensions compared to 689 suspensions for the same comparative period last year in 

Autumn 2022. These figures suggest a 25% reduction in secondary suspensions across 

the borough. 

 

These significant reductions have been achieved through targeted interventions for 

those schools with the highest rates of suspensions, and over-represented cohorts.  

Outreach support from New River College and continuing participation of identified 

schools in the London Mayor's ‘Inclusive and Nurturing Schools’ Programme - which 

aims to reduce suspensions and exclusions through whole school initiatives – have also 

supported this improving picture.   

 

In addition, encouraging secondary schools to work collaboratively to reduce the overall 

secondary suspension rate across the borough’s schools has had positive impact. This 

is by maintaining a focus on suspensions and engaging head teachers and senior 

leaders in data-sharing and problem-solving issues through the Islington Secondary 

School and College Leadership (ISSCL) network and Senior Leaders Group.  

 
2.7 - Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for pupils with SEND at 
Islington primary schools 

6.7. 2022/23 Autumn term published figure for suspension rate of pupils with Education, 
Health and Care plans or receiving SEN Support in Islington primary schools was 

2.02%. The target is to be below the inner London rate which was 1.28% so the target 
for this year is not met. 
 

The published figures provide data for the borough as a whole and do not reflect any 
disproportionality of suspensions of the SEND cohort (both SEND Support and those 

with Education, Health and Care plans (EHCPs)) in individual school. Data has been 
scrutinised locally at school level, but also by age, area of need, free school meal and 
care status to identify any patterns of disproportionality. Work is also being undertaken 

by looking at the reasons and length of suspensions for pupils with SEND to consider 
trends and strategies for support relating to specific types of need in line with our SEND 

Strategy.  We are also developing peer challenge and support by sharing and 
considering suspension data through locality inclusion hubs.  
 
2.8 - Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for pupils with SEND at 
Islington secondary schools 

Page 62



6.8. 2022/23 Autumn term published figure for suspension rate of pupils with Education, 
Health and Care plans or receiving SEN Support in Islington secondary schools was 

17.64%. The target is to be below the inner London rate which was 7.97% so the target 
for this year is not met. 
 

See 6.7 above. 
 
2.9 - Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for Mixed - White & Black-
Caribbean pupils at Islington primary schools 

6.9. 2022/23 Autumn term published figure for suspension rate of pupils from Mixed White 

and Black ethnic group across Islington primary schools was 1.48%. The target is to be 
below the inner London rate which was 0.75% so the target for this year is not met. 

 
The published figures provide data for the borough as a whole and do not reflect any 
disproportionality of suspensions for Mixed - White & Black-Caribbean pupils in 

individual schools. Data has been scrutinised locally at school level, but also by age, 
area of need, free school meal and care status to identify any patterns of 

disproportionality.  
 
Work is also being undertaken by looking at the reasons and length of suspensions for 

Mixed - White & Black-Caribbean pupils to consider trends and strategies for support 
relating to specific types of need in line with our Equality Strategy.  We are also 

developing peer challenge and support by sharing and considering suspension data 
through locality inclusion hubs.  
 

2.10 - Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for Mixed - White & Black-
Caribbean pupils at Islington secondary schools 

6.10. 2022/23 Autumn term published figure for suspension rate of pupils from Mixed White 
and Black ethnic group in Islington secondary schools was 21.78%. The target is to be 
below the inner London rate which was 8.76% so the target for this year is not met. 

 
See 6.9 above. Targeted work is being undertaken by looking at the reasons and length 

of suspensions for pupils from different ethnic groups to consider trends and strategies 
for support relating to specific groups. For example, ‘Becoming a Man’ programme 
running in three secondary schools that is targeted at boys from Black ethnic groups. 

 
2.11 - Corporate Indicator - % rate of persistent absence from Islington primary 

schools 

6.11. The published 2022/23 Autumn and Spring term figure shows 21.0% of Islington 
primary school children having had been persistently absent. Islington ranked 136th in 

England in terms of lowest persistent absence. 
 

The target for this indicator is to be below the Inner London average, which was 20.2% 

so the target was not met.  

 

The following % persistence absence table shows how Islington’s primary schools 

performed against inner London and the national averages for the breakdowns used to 

monitor the Education Plan: 

Page 63



Group 

Islington 

Autumn/Spring 

2022/23 

Inner London 

Autumn/Spring 

2022/23 

England 

Autumn/Spring 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 28.8% 27.4% 29.9% 

SEN Support 28.4% 26.7% 25.7% 

Education, Health & Care 

Plans 
34.3% 33.0% 32.2% 

Black Caribbean 27.6% 26.8% 23.9% 

Mixed White & Black 

Caribbean 
31.3% 29.9% 25.5% 

 
Severe absence rate for Autumn 2022-Spring 2023 term is 0.98%, similar to the inner 

London figure of 0.95%. Islington's figure is an increase from 0.45% point during the 
same period last year. 

 
We know that there is a strong link between deprivation and persistent absence from 
school. LSE research found that in 2017/18, the rate of PA was 24% greater in the most 

deprived areas. More recent research by COVID Social Mobility and Opportunities 
study (COSMO) suggested the following: 

 
o Young people from lower occupational status backgrounds were more likely to 

miss school, with 21% of those from working class backgrounds missing more 

than 20 days, compared to 17% from higher managerial/professional 
backgrounds.  

o 37% of pupils at state schools said they had fallen behind their classmates – more 
than double the figure for independent school students.  

o Young people from ethnic minorities were more likely to be concerned they had 

fallen behind their classmates due to pandemic disruption.  

o In terms of catch-up, 27% of children took up the National Tutoring Programme. 

9% of parents reported they had paid for their child to have private tuition. 52% of 
students in independent schools were offered tuition by their school.  

This means that we have to work harder in Islington, with high levels of deprivation, to 

make sure that we target those: 

o at risk of poor attendance: using data rigorously to support pupils with increasing 

levels of absence before it becomes a regular pattern 

o with poor attendance: intervening as early as possible and agreeing with schools 
an action plan for those with high levels of absence  

o persistently (more than 10%) and severely (more that 50%) absent pupils: put 

additional targeted support in place, working with partners and agree a joint 

approach 

‘Working Together to Improve Attendance’ (DfE Guidance) requires all local authorities 
to have in place a School Attendance Support Team that work with all schools in its 

Page 64



area to improve attendance from September 2023. A key element of delivery is 
Targeting Support Meetings - at least termly meetings with every school to identify, 

discuss, and agree joint targeted actions for pupils who are persistently or severely 
absent and those at risk of becoming so. The first of these meetings has taken place 
with every school this term to identify specific groups for targeted support. 

 
Support has been prioritised for schools where attendance is most impacted. All 

schools have been categorised according to levels of absence, and intervention will be 
proportionate to absence levels, with four primary schools identified as requiring 
intensive support because of high levels of persistent absence.   

 
Plans for implementation are in place and these have been ratified and signed off by the 

DfE, with positive feedback on detail and readiness.  
 
2.12 - Corporate Indicator - % rate of persistent absence from Islington secondary 

schools 

6.12. The published 2022/23 Autumn and Spring term figure shows 27.2% of Islington 

secondary school children having had been persistently absent. Islington had the 114th 
lowest persistent absence out of 151 local authorities in England. 
 

The target for this indicator is to be below the Inner London average, which was 22.6% 

so the target was not met.  

 

The following % persistence absence table shows how Islington’s secondary schools 

performed against inner London and the national averages for the breakdowns used to 

monitor the Education Plan: 

Group 

Islington 

Autumn/Spring 

2022/23 

Inner London 

Autumn/Spring 

2022/23 

England 

Autumn/Spring 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 36.1% 30.0% 42.4% 

SEN Support 39.3% 32.2% 37.3% 

Education, Health & Care 

Plans 
36.2% 31.6% 37.6% 

Black Caribbean 36.6% 29.8% 28.0% 

Mixed White & Black 

Caribbean 
45.6% 38.5% 36.8% 

 

Severe absence rate for Autumn 2022-Spring 2023 terms combined is 2.5%, an 
increase on 2.2% during same period last year. This figure is above the inner London 
average of 1.9%. 

 
See 6.11 above for information about our overall approach to addressing poor 

attendance and School Attendance Support Teams. All schools have been categorised 
according to levels of absence and intervention will be proportionate to absence levels, 
with four secondary schools identified as requiring intensive support because of high 

levels of persistent absence. 
 

Page 65



2.13 - Corporate Indicator - % of pupils meeting the expected standard in the 
phonics screening check in year 1 

6.13. The DfE published figures show 79.0% of Islington pupils meeting the expected 
standard in the phonics screening check in year 1 below the inner London figure of 
80.6% and in line with the national figure of 78.9%. 
 

The following table of DfE figures shows how Islington performed against the inner 
London and national average for the breakdowns used to monitor the Education Plan: 

 

Group 
Islington 

2022/23 

Inner London  

2022/23 

England 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 72% 74% 66% 

SEN Support 62% 57% 48% 

Education, Health & Care Plans 24% 25% 20% 

Black Caribbean 73% 72% 74% 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 68% 74% 75% 

 

Narrowing the gap for vulnerable groups is an ambitious priority of the Islington 

Education Plan. FSM and SEND cohorts across Islington remain above national figures 

with Black Caribbean pupils broadly in line but Mixed White & Black Caribbean pupils 

significantly below national figures.  
 

Comparisons with Inner London figures saw SEN Support pupils and Black Caribbean 

pupils above Inner London and pupils with an EHCP plan broadly in line. FSM pupils 

and Mixed White & Black Caribbean pupils were both below Inner London figures. 
 

It should be noted that several schools have changed phonics programmes in both Year 

1 and Year 2 since the validation occurred from DFE. Schools had been used to using 

Letters and Sounds. Schools are now being supported by the Primary School 

Improvement team with re-training in new programmes. In addition, pupils on entry have 

been reported as much lower than pre-2019 levels. 
 

 
 

2.14 - Corporate Indicator - % of pupils meeting the expected standard in the 
phonics screening check by the end of year 2 

6.14. The DfE published figures show 88.5% of Islington pupils meeting the expected 

standard in the phonics screening check in year 2, in line with the inner London figure of 
88.3% and the national figure of 88.5%. 
 

The target is to be in line with or above Inner London figure, so this target was met. 
 

The following table of DfE figures shows how Islington performed against the inner 

London and national average for the breakdowns used to monitor the Education Plan: 
 

Group 
Islington 

2022/23 

Inner London 

2022/23 

England 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 83% 84% 81% 

SEN Support 77% 72% 66% 

Education, Health & Care Plans 44% 35% 30% 
Page 66



Black Caribbean 86% 84% 86% 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 83% 85% 87% 

 

FSM and SEND pupils were above national figures with Black Caribbean pupils in line 

for this indicator. Mixed White & Black Caribbean pupils were below national figures (-

4% pt.) 
 

Comparisons with Inner London figures saw SEND and Black Caribbean pupils above 

Inner London figures. FSM pupils and Mixed White & Black Caribbean pupils were both 

below Inner London figures. 
 

As with the Year 1 programmes several schools have changed phonics programmes in 

Year 2 since the validation occurred from DFE. Schools had been used to using Letters 

and Sounds. Schools are now being supported by the Primary School Improvement 

team with re-training in new programmes.  
 
2.15- Corporate Indicator - Key Stage 1 - Reading at expected standard 

6.15. The DfE published figures show 70.0% pupils meeting the expected standard in Key 

Stage 1 Reading. This percentage is below the inner London figure of 71.3% but above 
the national percentage of 68.2%.  
 

The target is to be in line with or above Inner London figure, so this target was not met. 
 

The following table of DfE figures shows how Islington performed against the inner 
London and national average for the breakdowns used to monitor the Education Plan: 
 

Group 
Islington 

2022/23 

Inner London 

2022/23 

England 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 61% 63% 54% 

SEN Support 44% 40% 32% 

Education, Health & Care Plans 23% 15% 12% 

Black Caribbean 65% 61% 64% 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 55% 63% 63% 

 

Most cohorts were above national figures apart from Mixed White & Black Caribbean 

pupils who were noticeably below National figures by 8%. 
 

Comparisons with Inner London figures saw SEND pupils and Black Caribbean pupils 

above Inner London figures with FSM pupils 2% below. Mixed White & Black Caribbean 

pupils were significantly below Inner London figures by 5%. 

 
The primary team have been working closely with schools to address in some cases 

issues caused by leaders more focused on KS2 outcomes with KS1 teachers given less 
meeting and CPD opportunities to look at pupil progress and set up the necessary 

interventions 
 
Too few pupils in Phonics re-takes are passing because programmes and interventions 

across a small number of schools have not been robust enough. In those schools, 

Page 67



teachers are moving to whole class reading too quickly when many pupils in those 
classes cannot yet read and put text together. 

 

The primary education team will be working with schools to highlight and develop 

pedagogical strategies specific to reading to support schools address this challenge and 

improve outcomes. 

 
2.16 - Corporate Indicator - Key Stage 2 - Expected standard in Reading, Writing & 

Maths 

6.16. The published revised DfE data shows 65.0% pupils meeting the expected standard in 

Key Stage 2 Reading, Writing and Maths. This percentage is below the inner London 
figure of 67.5% but above the national percentage of 59.8%. 
 

The target is to be in line with or above Inner London figure, so this target was not met.  
 

The following table of provisional DfE figures shows how Islington performed against 
the inner London and national average for the breakdowns used to monitor the 
Education Plan:  

 

Group 
Islington 

2022/23 

Inner London 

2022/23 

England 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 55.8% 57.9% 43.6% 

SEN Support 36.4% 36.9% 23.6% 

Education, Health & Care Plans 17.7% 12.2% 8.2% 

Black Caribbean 47.4% 50.6% 49.8% 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean 48.8% 54.7% 50.5% 

 

Most cohorts were above national figures apart from Black Caribbean (-2.4%) and 

Mixed White & Black Caribbean (-1.7%) pupils. 
 

Comparisons with Inner London saw only pupils with EHCP plans exceed Inner London 

figures. All other cohorts were below with Mixed White & Black Caribbean a 

considerable 5.9% below.   
 

In January the Year 6 network meeting will be continuing to develop good quality 

provision with a targeted focus on five schools who are bringing the LA figures down. 

 
2.17 - Corporate Indicator - Key Stage 4 - Attainment 8 

6.17. The published provisional DfE data shows 46.6% This score is below the provisional 
inner London figure of 49.6 and slightly above the provisional national score of 46.3. 
 

The target is to be in line with or above Inner London figure so the provisional figures 
suggest the target was not met. The revised DfE figures will be available in February. 

 
The following table of provisional DfE figures shows how Islington performed against 
the inner London and national average for the breakdowns used to monitor the 

Education Plan:  
 

Page 68



Group 
Islington 

2022/23 

Inner London 

2022/23 

England 

2022/23 

FSM eligible 40.7 43.1 34.8 

SEN Support 35.9 39.3 33.2 

Education, Health & Care 

Plans 
11.8 16.7 14.0 

Black Caribbean Not yet available Not yet available 39.9 

Mixed White & Black 

Caribbean 
Not yet available Not yet available 39.0 

FSM pupils and SEN support pupils were above national figures. Pupils with an EHCP 

plan were 2.2% below national figures. When compared with Inner London figures, FSM 
and SEND cohorts were below.  
 

Total number of 
secondary schools 

(A8 46.6%)  

Number of schools 
Attainment 8 figure 
ABOVE National 

(A8 46.3%) 

Number of schools 
Attainment 8 figure 

ABOVE Inner London 

(A8 49.6%) 

10 6 5 

 
School analysis shows that when compared nationally, four of Islington’s secondary 

schools have an A8 figure lower than national figures (46.3%). When compared with 
Inner London, five schools have an A8 figure below 49.6%.  
 

January 2024 will see the first meeting of the Curriculum Deputy Headteachers from all 
secondary schools to look at which cohorts within the schools are underperforming and 

share best practice to improve attainment.  
 
Analysis of the five schools below both Inner and National figures, shows that progress 

in English and Maths in two schools has had a significant impact on their overall 
Attainment 8 figure. Similarly, disadvantaged pupils from all five schools have all made 

significantly less progress than expected. This will be the main focus for the new 
network. 
 

2.19- 16 and 17-year-olds (Year 11 & 12 September Guarantee cohorts) have a 
confirmed and suitable offer of employment, education and training 

6.18. The provisional percentage of children and young people with an offer of education, 
training or employment by January 2024 was 97.1%. This is an improvement on last 
year's 96.7%.  

 
Islington ranks 56th out of 153 LAs nationally for highest percentage of offers made and 

is placed in the second quartile (from top). The London figure is 97.2% and England 
94.6%.  It is important to note that Islington had a higher number of young people than 
other London LAs recorded as ‘offer not appropriate’.  This represented 1.2% of the 

Page 69



cohort with half off these known to be working and the other half too unwell to 
participate in education. 

 
The target for this measure was 97.5% and the provisional figure suggests this target 
was not met. However, the number of young people known to be working may reflect 

the challenges households face in terms of cost of living. Should this group have stayed 
in education, the target would have been achieved. 

 
2.20 - Number of Electively Home Educated pupils 

6.19. There were 314 electively home educated pupils for the period ending 30th September 

2023. The number of electively home educated pupils at the end of Q2 was higher than 
251 pupils in the same period last year. 

 
Electively Home Educated pupils information is collected by the DfE and published at 
LA and national level. An analysis done on the rate of EHE pupils using the Autumn 

2022 census date figures from the published data and the population estimates for ages 
4 to 15 (equivalent to Reception to Year 11), showed, Islington to have highest rate per 

head in London and among its statistical neighbours (note: there was no data provided 
by Hackney). 
 

Across the country, Islington was just inside the top quartile for the EHE rate – ranking 
the 33rd highest out of 141 LAs with a published EHE figure. 

 
This is the first year that the DfE have collected and published data on the numbers of 
children EHE, they did so for the first time this academic year.  

 
The Government are proposing to establish a register for children not in school, to 

include Electively Home Educated children. 
 
Locally we have increased Elective Home Education Adviser time to reflect increased 

numbers. We have in place an agreed local protocol with our schools whereby any child 
home educating can return to the same school if within 20 school days if they decide (or 

the LA believe) that home education is not suitable. 
 
Other actions include:  

 Expanding on existing work with partner agencies such as CAMHS, CSCT, Bright 
Futures to offer a more targeted support to home educating families   

 A dedicated School Nurse providing targeted support to families facing health 
related challenges.  

• Expanding on the work with schools and partner agencies to ensure elective 

home education is not promoted to avoid exclusion, poor attendance or 
challenging behaviour   

• Supporting schools to have potentially difficult conversations with parents where 
it appears elective home education is not in the best interest of the child 

 Developing a local flexi-schooling offer as a positive means of re-engaging or 

preventing further fall out from full-time school attendance 
 

We will continue support parents and children where there are no concerns about the  
quality or rationale for home education provision, including careers information, detail of 
support services available, signposting to exam centres and other relevant support. 

Page 70



 

  

Page 71



7. Progressing well to adulthood, independent and 
fulfilled lives  
 

 
3.1 - Corporate Indicator - % of care leavers in Education, Employment or 

Training 

7.1. The published data from the 2022/23 statutory returns shows that 55.4% of 19 to 21-

year-old care experienced young people were in Education, Employment or Training.  
This is lower than the previous year, but higher than in any other year since 2016/17.  
This is below the target set for 2023/24 of 70%. 

 
There has been an improvement in EET figures which were at 72% at the end of 

quarter 2.  
 

 

   

  

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2021/22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Actual 

2023/24 

Target 

Q2 

2023/24 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than Q2 

last 

year? 

3.1 

Corporate indicator -   
% of care leavers in 

Education, Employment 

or Training 

61.7% 55.4% 70% 
55.4% 

(2022/23) No 
61.7% 

(2021/22) No 

Page 72



MISSION: A SAFE PLACE TO CALL HOME 

8. Care, support and safeguarding  
 

 
 

4.1 Percentage of young people (aged 10-17) triaged that are diverted away from 

the criminal justice system 

8.1. At the end of quarter two, 85% of young people aged 10-17 triaged were diverted away 

from the criminal justice system. The target is to have more than 85% of young people 
(aged 10-17) triaged, diverted away from the criminal justice system at the end of the 
financial year. 

 
Two young people in the cohort could not be diverted away from the criminal justice 

system due to the complexity of their needs and this combined with smaller cohort has 
made the % lower compared to the same time previous year. 

 

Although the percentage of young people triaged that are diverted away from the 
criminal justice system is below target, in relative terms (due to the reduced number 

within the cohort) it is on a similar trajectory as per the previous year with two young 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2021/22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Actual 

2023/24 

Target 

Q2 

2023/24 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than Q2 

last 

year? 

4.1 

Percentage of young 

people (aged 10-17) 

triaged that are diverted 

away from the criminal 

justice system 

91% 96% >85% 

85% 

(Q1-Q2 

2023/24) 
Stable 

95% 
(Q1-Q2 
2022/2

3) 

Lower 

4.2 

Corporate Indicator - 

Number of first-time 

entrants into Youth 

Justice System 

45 
37 

(Q1-Q4) <37 

15 

(Q1-Q2 

2023/24) 
Yes 

23 
(Q1-Q2 
2022/2

3) 

Yes 

4.3 

Corporate Indicator - 

Percentage of repeat 

young offenders (under 

18s) 

20% 

22% 

(Q4 

2022/23) 

Reduction 

from same 

period last 

year 

17%  

(Q2) No 
9% 
(Q2) No 

4.4 

Number of custodial 

sentences for young 

offenders 
4 

5 

(Q1-Q4) <5 

2 

(Q1-Q2 

2023/24) 
Yes 

4 
(Q1-Q2 
2022/2

3) 

Yes 

4.5 

Corporate Indicator - 

Number of Domestic 

abuse offences 
2,756 

2,783 

(Q1-Q4) 

Increase 

on 

2022/23 

1,315 

(Q1-Q2 

2023/24) 
Stable 

1,372 
(Q1-Q2 
2022/2

3) 

Stable 

Page 73



people in the quarter re-offending. Targeted Youth Support and the partnership 
continue to focus on early intervention and diversion through effective Triage delivery. 

Such interventions are significant to ensure that relevant young people receive an 
appropriate, well-balanced and suitable tailored level of support that addresses their 
needs. The aim is to prevent any further escalation in their circumstances and 

behaviours. The service has had considerable success in recent times, achieving high 
success rates in recent previous quarters.  

 
4.2 - Corporate Indicator - Number of first-time entrants into Youth Justice 
System 

8.2. There were 7 first time entrants into Youth Justice System in quarter 2 taking the total 
figure at the end of Q2 for the year to 15. This figure is noticeably lower than the FTEs 

in the same period last year (23). The target for this measure is to improve on last 
year’s performance, so this measure is on target. 
 

From Q1 2023/24 (year ending June 23), the FTE data has moved from the PNC via 
MoJ to the quarterly case level data YJS submissions, as MoJ are no longer publishing 

quarterly. The YJB published figures therefore include a comparison to the previous 12 
months using the new methodology. The latest published YJB provisional figures for Q2 
2023/24 show the rate of FTE per 100,000 children and young people as 208 based on 

the population estimate of 15,405 10-17 year olds, compared to the rate of 136 for 
London and 129 for national for the Oct 22 – Sept 23 period. 

 
The effective early intervention and prevention offer that exists in the borough, led by 
Young Islington and other key stakeholders has enabled us to make significant 

progress in relation to our First Time Entrant (FTE) performance. The early identification 
of children and young people who are vulnerable and in need of support has become 

stronger and evidence-based. This has included enhancing the Early Intervention and 
Diversion portfolio of services including those such as Turnaround, Engage and Divert. 
These systems and methods continue to evolve and reach the appropriate cohorts of 

young people.   
 
4.3 - Corporate Indicator - Percentage of repeat young offenders (under 18s) 

8.3. Three of the 18 young people who offended in Q2 2022/23 went on to re-offend, so the 

local re-offending rate was 17%, higher than the Q2 2021/22 re-offending rate of 9%. 

The target is to improve on the same period previous year, so this measure has not met 

the target for this quarter. 

 

The latest published YJB provisional figures for Q2 2023/24 show the re-offending 

percentage for Islington at 14.3% for the Oct-Dec 21 period. This is noticeably below 

the London (34.7%) and National (32.6%) figures. 

 

The service (and the partnership) has a range of effective interventions available to 

young people who are assessed as presenting a medium to high risk of reoffending 

following assessment. This has helped to consistently reduce the figures in relation to 

young people who pose a higher risk of further offending. Police intelligence and data 

analysis is also used to identify the young people who are most at risk of this and this 

helps to put the relevant interventions in place for them.   

 Page 74



The cohort of young people involved reoffending are low in number and this still 

represents a significant increase considering where the YJS was in relation to this 

measure in previous years. In addition, the cohort of children being worked with are 

presenting with more complexities due to the effects of the pandemic and the cost-of-

living crisis. These young people are being provided with more intensive support from 

the network due to their needs.  

 
4.4 - Number of custodial sentences for young offenders 

8.4. There were two custodial sentences for Islington young people at the end of quarter 2 in 

2023/24. This is lower than the 4 custodial sentences for the same period last year. 

 

The target is to have a lower number of custodial sentences than in 2022/23 so this 

measure is currently on target. 

 

The latest published YJB draft figures for Q2 2023/24 show one custodial sentence 

during the reporting period, although this will be challenged as it should report 2. The 

rate of custody per 1,000 children and young people aged 10 to 17 is 0.06 based on the 

population estimate of 15,405 10-17 year olds. This is below the London rate of 0.09 

and in line with National for the reporting period. 

 

The service has a range of effective interventions to manage the risk of high-risk young 

people in the community. In addition, a strong working relationship and reputation with 

various courts has helped with the improvement of this measure as courts have more 

confidence in the YJS’s interventions. There are some offences, however, where only a 

custodial sentence is justified, and this was the case for the two custodial sentences 

imposed where the offences were so serious that only a custodial sentence was 

commensurate. One of these cases was a high gravity sexual assault. Islington’s 

progress in relation to the reduction of custodial sentences remains positive.   

 

4.5 - Corporate Indicator – Number of Domestic abuse offences 

8.5. There was a total of 1,315 domestic abuse (DA) crime offences reported to Islington 

police at the end of Q2, slightly down compared to 1,372 at the end of Q2 last year.  

There were 101 domestic abuse sanction detections achieved by the police during this 
period a rate of 8% which is in line with last year’s rate but still much lower than we 

would like to see.   
 
The MPS held a Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) meeting at the Town Hall 

on the 10
th

 October to provide partnership opportunity to discuss the Met Police Turn 
Around Plan and how they will improve their response to survivors and hold more 
perpetrators to account through the CJ System. 

 

While there was a slight decrease in the number of DA offences reported commissioned 

services continue to be very busy receiving 402 referrals in quarter 2, with 234 survivors 

and families provided specialist support through an Independent Domestic Violence 

Advocate, and 71% feeling safer because of the support they receive.  During quarter 2, 

we saw a decrease in the number of police referrals to VAWG services. This is a 

positive development as it is due to police not sending referrals to Solace duty without Page 75



the consent from the survivor, and thus avoids the safeguarding risk of Solace 

contacting survivors where it's not safe to do so.    

 
Referrals to the DA Daily Safeguarding meeting were up 32% in September compared 

to August and there was also an increase in the risk level of cases heard meaning more 
survivors with high risk are receiving a timely multi-agency response. 

 

Outputs:  

- 234 survivors (402 referrals received) supported by VAWG advocacy services  

- 77 professionals supported with advice around working with survivors  

- 15 women supported following experiencing harmful and abusive practices 

including FGM and forced marriage  

- 92% refuge occupancy  

- 206 sessions were delivered by the refuge family support teams  

 

Outcomes (for survivors who exited the service following completion of the intervention):  

- 71% felt safer  

- 64% increased their confidence and self esteem  

- 71% felt better able to recognise abusive behaviours  

- 65% felt less isolated  

 

 
 

 

  

Page 76



9. Progressing well to adulthood, independent and 
fulfilled lives  
 

 
5.1 – Corporate Indicator - Islington Young People's Drug and Alcohol Service 

(IYPDAS) - Increase in referrals of young people requiring tier 3 services  

9.1. This is a new indicator reporting on the referrals to Tier 3 (structured and specialised 

interventions with care plans). This is in relation to children and young people who need 
support with alcohol and/or substance misuse.  
 

There were 12 referrals made by the end of Q2, higher than the 7 referrals during the 
same period last year. The overhaul the new HALO Data system has been completed 

and will more accurately capture all Tier 3 intervention work with YP. Assessment 
processes and procedures have been reviewed and will support more of the complex 
Substance Misuse (SMU) interventions into care plans which will increase data 

recording for Tier 3 work. 
 

Tier 3 referrals have increased in recent times. This could be linked to IYPDAS being 
fully staffed in 2023/24, which was not the case in the previous financial year.  IYPDAS 
has promoted the service throughout Islington and delivered various SMU awareness 

and information workshops to young people, parents, schools and colleagues. This may 
also have helped to generate more referrals. There has also been an increase in 

polydrug use in young people and in the number of complex cases being referred. 
 
Tier 3 cases can only be recorded as such if a young person agrees to a structured 

care plan and if they do not consent or are unable to engage for various reasons (e.g. 
chaotic home life, unable to attend on a regular basis, unable to engage with a 

structured care plan, etc), then they will have to be recorded as a Tier 2 intervention. 
This is not negotiable or flexible and is in accordance with national guidance.  

 
5.2 – Islington Young People's Drug and Alcohol Service (IYPDAS) - Increase in 
the number of referrals for young people accessing a tier 2 service  

9.2. This is a new indicator reporting on the referrals to Tier 2 services, which is indicative of 
a higher level of need. 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2021/22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Actual 

2023/24 

Target 

Q2 

2023/24 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than Q2 

last 

year? 

5.1 

IYPDAS - Increase in 

referrals of young 

people requiring tier 3 

services 

New 

indicator 
12 

Increase 

on 

2022/23 

12 Yes 7 Yes 

5.2 

IYPDAS - Increase in 

the number of referrals 

for young people 

accessing a tier 2 

service 

New 

indicator 
 85 

Increase 

on 

2022/23 

 61 Yes  37 Yes 

Page 77



 
There were 61 referrals at the end of Q2, higher than the 37 referrals made during the 

same period last year. This could be due to an increase in Substance Misuse (SMU) 
awareness training for professionals, foster carers/parents and with young people in 
schools and the delivery of SMU workshops within underrepresented groups within the 

local community.  There has also been a noticeable increase in polydrug use amongst 
young people in the Borough and we now have a clear referral pathway with Whitington 

A&E.  IYPDAS/YCSMAS has also streamlined its referral process using QR codes to 
make referring into the service easier. The specialist SMU/Youth Counselling YJS Lead 
post has also increased referrals for young people in the Youth justice Service as all 

YJS Young people are now screened for SMU and offered SMU awareness or harm 
reduction sessions. 

 
There is an increased level of need amongst young people in the borough due to 
factors such as Covid and the cost-of-living crisis. This has adversely impacted on the 

emotional wellbeing of young people and has likely led to increases in substance and 
alcohol use as a coping mechanism. This, in conjunction with the service being better 

promoted, is likely to explain why there have been increases in the number of tier 2 
interventions in Q2.  
 

     
 

 

  

Page 78



10. Implications  
10.1. Financial Implications  

10.1.1. The cost of providing resources to monitor performance is met within each 

service’s core budget.  

  

10.2. Legal Implications  

10.2.1. There are no legal duties upon local authorities to set targets or monitor 

performance. However, these enable us to strive for continuous improvement. 

 

10.3. Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 

Islington by 2030 

10.3.1. There is no environmental impact arising from monitoring performance.  

 

10.4. Equalities Impact Assessment 

10.4.1. The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to 

eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of 

opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 

2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or 

minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take 

account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in 

public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and 

promote understanding.  

 

10.4.2. An Equalities Impact Assessment is not required in relation to this report, because 

this report is looking at historical performance information and does not relate to a 

new policy, procedure, function, service activity or financial decision.  Where a 

new policy, procedure, function, service activity or financial decision is mentioned 

in the commentary within this report, there should be a separate Equalities Impact 

Assessment for that specific development, rather than attached to the reporting on 

performance for any measures that this would affect. 

 

11. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 

11.1. This report has presented a detailed narrative describing the performance of 

Children’s Services in Quarter 2 2023-24 and the outcomes achieved by 

Islington’s children and young people.  This reports how Children’s Services have 

contributed to this performance, and any external factors that have affected these 

measures.  Where performance is off target, a summary of the actions being 

undertaken to improve performance has been included. 

 

Page 79



Appendices:  

 None 

Background papers:  

 None 

 

Final report clearance: 

Signed by:  

 

   Corporate Director of Children’s Services      

Date:  3rd January 2024    

 

Report Author: Various – co-ordinated by Burak Cingi, Business Intelligence Project Manager 
and Adam White, Head of Data & Performance, and Children & Young People 

Tel: x4116 and x2657 
Email: adam.white@islington.gov.uk and burak.cingi@islington.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Page 80

mailto:adam.white@islington.gov.uk
mailto:burak.cingi@islington.gov.uk


CS PI No. Corporate 
Indicator? Indicator Frequency 

reported
Current Figure

(Period covered)
Previous Figure
(Period covered)

Figure at end of 
previous year Direction of travel London England National quartile

MISSION: CHILD-FRIENDLY ISLINGTON

1.1 Children's social care contacts in the past month Quarterly
1,099

(September 2023)
1,027

(September 2022)
1,303 

(March 2023) n/a n/a n/a n/a

1.2 Percentage of re-referrals to Children's Social Care within the 
previous 12 months

Quarterly
14.7%

(Q2 2023/24)
18.2%

(Q2 2022/23)
16.1% 

(2022/23 FY) ↓
17.6%

(2022/23 - Inner 
london)

22.6%
(2022/23) Top

1.3  Inequalities measure - % of re-referrals to children's social care for 
Black-Caribbean children and young people

Quarterly
16.9%

(Q2 2023/24)
12.9%

(Q1 2022/23)
22.1%

(2022/23 FY) ↑
1.8 Number of children who are the subject of a Child Protection Plan Quarterly

181
(Q2 2023/24)

146
(Q2 2022/23) 169 ↑ n/a n/a n/a

1.9  Percentage of children who became subject to a Child Protection Plan 
for a second or subsequent time

Quarterly
41.9%

(Q2 2023/24)
27.9%

(Q2 2022/23) 24.0% ↑
21%

(Inner London - 
2022/23 FY)

24%
(2022/23 FY) 2nd from bottom

1.10  Number of Looked After Children (excluding Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children)

Quarterly
267

(end of 
September 2023)

314
(end of September 

2022)

289
(March 2023) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

1.13 Placement stability - short term - Proportion of looked after children 
with 3 or more placements over the course of the year

Quarterly
6.4%

(Q2 2023/24)
4.2%

(Q2 2022/23)
9.5%

(March 2023) ↑
10.8%

(Inner London - 
March 2023)

10.3%
(March 2023) 2nd from top

1.14
Placement stability - long term - Percentage of children who have 
been looked after for more than 2.5 years who have been looked after 
in the same placement for at least 2 years or placed for adoption

Quarterly
63.9%

(Q2 2023/24)
68.5%

(Q2 2022/23)
66.3% 

(2022-23 FY) ↓
66.4%

(Inner London 
2022/23 FY)

68.9%
(2022/23 FY) 2nd from bottom

1.15 Number of children missing from care for 24+ hours Quarterly
7

(September 2023)
10

(June 2023)

8
(September 

2022)
↓ n/a n/a n/a

1.16  Increase in engagement rates at Adventure Playgrounds Quarterly
56.2%

(Q1-Q2 2023/4)
60%

(Q1-Q2 2022/23)
60.3%

(2022-23 FY) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

1.17  Increase in total number of contacts at Adventure Playgrounds Quarterly
3,008

(Q1-Q2 2023/4)
2,727

(Q1-Q2 2022/23)
3,559

(2022-23 FY) ↑ n/a n/a n/a

1.18  Increase in total number of participants at Adventure Playgrounds Quarterly
1,691

(Q1-Q2 2023/4)
1,637

(Q1-Q2 2022/23)
2,146

(2022-23 FY) ↔ n/a n/a n/a

1.19  Increase in engagement rates at Youth Clubs and Centres Quarterly
40%

(Q1-Q2 2023/4)
41.1%

(Q1-Q2 2022/23)
49.6%

(2022-23 FY) ↔ n/a n/a n/a

1.20  Increase in total number of contacts at Youth Clubs and Centres Quarterly
3,760

(Q1-Q2 2023/4)
3,581

(Q1-Q2 2022/23)
5,097

(2022-23 FY) ↑ n/a n/a n/a

1.21  Increase in total number of participants at Youth Clubs and Centres Quarterly
1,504

(Q1-Q2 2023/4)
1,471

(Q1-Q2 2022/23)
2,528

(2022-23 FY) ↑ n/a n/a n/a

2.1 Percentage of good and outstanding early years settings Termly
96.4%

(August 2023)
95.1%

(August 2022)
95.1%

(March 2023) ↑
95.4%

(August 2023 - Inner 
london)

96.5%
(August 2023) 2nd from bottom

2.2 Percentage of good and outstanding Islington schools (all phases) Termly
95.5%

(September 2023)
94.1%

(September 2022)
97.1% 

(March 2023) ↑
96.0%

(September 2023 - 
Inner London)

88.9%
(September 

2023)
Top

Appendix A - Data Dashboard

Resilient Children and Families

Lifelong learning, skills and enrichment 

P
age 81



CS PI No. Corporate 
Indicator? Indicator Frequency 

reported
Current Figure

(Period covered)
Previous Figure
(Period covered)

Figure at end of 
previous year Direction of travel London England National quartile

2.3 % of pupils achieving a Good Level of Development in the Early 
Years Foundation Stage Profile

Annually
66.6%

(2022/23)
64.7%

(2021/22)
64.7%

(2021/22) ↑
69.1% 

(2022/23 - Inner 
London)

67.2% 
(2022/23) 2nd from bottom

2.4 
Take up of 2-year-old FEEE places by low-income families, children 
with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND) and children 
who are looked after  

Quarterly
66%

(Aut-23)
76%

(Aut-22)
75% (Spring 

2023) ↓

2.5  % rate of suspensions at Islington primary schools Termly
0.59

(Autumn 2022/23)
0.69

(Autumn 2021/22)

1.81
(2021/22 Whole 
Academic Yearl)

↓
0.28

(Inner London 
figure)

0.58 2nd from bottom

2.6  % rate of suspensions at Islington secondary schools Termly
7.71

(Autumn 2022/23)
6.00

(Autumn 2021/22)

21.84
(2021/22 Whole 
Academic Yearl)

↑
3.37

(Inner London 
figure)

5.9 Bottom

2.7  Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for pupils with SEND at 
Islington primary schools

Termly
2.02

(Autumn 2022/23)
2.78

(Autumn 2021/22)

7.28
(2021/22 Whole 
Academic Yearl)

↓
1.28

(Inner London 
figure)

3.16 2nd from top

2.8  Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for pupils with SEND at 
Islington secondary schools

Termly
17.64

(Autumn 2022/23)
13.79

(Autumn 2021/22)

45.49
(2021/22 Whole 
Academic Yearl)

↑
7.97

(Inner London 
figure)

15.57 2nd from bottom

2.9  Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for Mixed - White & 
Black-Caribbean pupils at Islington primary schools

Termly
1.48

(Autumn 2022/23)
1.64

(Autumn 2021/22)

3.95
(2021/22 Whole 
Academic Yearl)

↓
0.75

(Inner London 
figure)

1.19 2nd from bottom

2.10  Inequalities measure - % rate of suspensions for Mixed - White & 
Black-Caribbean pupils at Islington secondary schools

Termly
21.78

(Autumn 2022/23)
20.00

(Autumn 2021/22)

65.35
(2021/22 Whole 
Academic Yearl)

↑
8.76

(Inner London 
figure)

11.21 Bottom

2.11  % rate of persistent absence from Islington primary schools Termly
21.0%

(Aut-Spr terms 
2022/23)

16.6%
(Aut-Spr terms 

2021/22)

18.4% 
(21/22 AY) ↑

20.2%
(Aut-Spr terms 

2022/23
Inner London)

17.3
(Aut-Spr terms 

2022/23)
Bottom

2.12  % rate of persistent absence from Islington secondary schools Termly
27.2%

(Aut-Spr terms 
2022/23)

24.8%
(Aut-Spr terms 

2021/22)

26.5% 
(21/22 AY) ↑

22.6%
(Aut-Spr terms 

2022/23
Inner London)

25.2
(Aut-Spr terms 

2022/23)
Bottom

2.13  % of pupils meeting the expected standard in the phonics screening 
check in year 1

Annually
79.0% 

(2022/23)
76.6%

(2021/22)
76.6%

(2021/22) ↑
80.6%

(2022/23 - Inner 
London)

78.9%
(2022/23) 2nd from top

2.14  % of pupils meeting the expected standard in the phonics screening 
check by the end of year 2

Annually
88.5% 

(2022/23)
88.7%

(2021/22)
88.7%

(2021/22) ↔
88.3%

(2022/23 Inner 
London)

88.5%
(2022/23) 2nd from top

2.15  Key Stage 1 - Reading at expected standard Annually
70.0%

(2022/23)
71.4%

(2021/22)
71.4%

(2021/22) ↔
71.3%

(2022/23 Inner 
London)

68.2%
(2022/23) Top

2.16  Key Stage 2 - Expected standard in RWM Annually
65.0% 

(2022/23)
63.3%

(2021/22)
63.3%

(2021/22) ↑
67.5%

(2022/23  - Inner 
London)

59.8%
(2022/23) Top

2.17  Key Stage 4 - Attainment 8 (A8) Annually
46.6

(2022/23 
provisional)

49.9
(2021/22)

49.9
(2021/22) N/A

49.6
(2022/23 provisional 

- Inner london)

46.3
(2022/23 

provisional)

2nd from top
(provisional)

2.19 
16 and 17-year-olds (Year 11 & 12 September Guarantee cohorts) 
have a confirmed and suitable offer of employment, education and 
training.  

Annually
97.1%
(2023 

provisional)
96.7% 96.7% ↑ 97.2%

(2023 provisional)

94.6%
(2023 

provisional)

2nd from top
(provisional)

2.20 Number of Electively Home Educated pupils Quarterly
314

(September 2023)
251

(September 2022)
309

(March 23) ↑

Progressing well to adulthood, independent and fulfilled lives 

P
age 82



CS PI No. Corporate 
Indicator? Indicator Frequency 

reported
Current Figure

(Period covered)
Previous Figure
(Period covered)

Figure at end of 
previous year Direction of travel London England National quartile

3.1  % of care leavers in Education, Employment or Training (19-21 year 
olds)

Annually
55.4%

(2022/23)
61.7%

(2021/22) 66.5% ↓
64.2%

(2022/23 - Inner 
London)

55.9%
(2022/23) 2nd from bottom

MISSION: A SAFE PLACE TO CALL HOME

Care, support and safeguarding 

4.1 Percentage of young people (aged 10-17) triaged that are diverted 
away from the criminal justice system

Quarterly
85%

(Q2 YTD 2022/23)
95%

(Q2 YTD 2022/23) 96% ↓

4.2  Number of first-time entrants into Youth Justice System Quarterly
15

(Q1 & Q2 
2023/24) 

23
(Q1 & Q2 
2022/23)

37
(Q1-Q4) ↓

4.3  Percentage of repeat young offenders (under 18s) Quarterly
17%

(Q2 2023/24)
9%

(Q2 2021/22)
22%

(Q4 2022/23) ↓
4.4 Number of custodial sentences for young offenders Quarterly

2
(Q1 & Q2 
2023/24) 

4
(Q1 & Q2 
2022/23)

5
(Q1-Q4 2022/23) ↓

4.5 Number of Domestic abuse offences Quarterly
1,315

(Q2 YTD 2023/24) 
1,372 

(Q2 YTD 2022/23)
2,783

(Q1-Q4) ↔

Progressing well to adulthood, independent and fulfilled lives 

5.1  IYPDAS - Increase in referrals of young people requiring  tier 3 
services

Quarterly
12

(Q1 - Q2 2023/24)
7

(Q1 - Q2 2022/23)
12

(2022/23 FY) ↑ n/a n/a n/a

5.2 IYPDAS - Increase in the number of referrals for young people 
accessing a tier 2 service 

Quarterly
61

(Q1 - Q2 2023/24)
37

(Q1 - Q2 2022/23)
85

(2022/23 FY) ↑ n/a n/a n/a

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE SCRUTINY TOPICS AND 

WORK PROGRAMME 

 

  WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24 

12 June 2023 

 1.  Membership, Terms of Reference 

 2.  Scrutiny Response Tracker 

3.  Scrutiny Topic and Draft Work Programme 

4.  Scrutiny Report  

 

 19 July 2023 

1. Scrutiny Initiation Document (SID) & Introductory presentation. 

2. School Reorganisation  

3. Quarter 4 Performance Report 

 14 September 2023 

 1. Quarter 1 Performance Report 

2. Child Protection Annual Report 

3. Headline/Provisional School Results  

 
 31 October 2023 

1. Attendance 

2. Youth Justice Service Update/Youth Justice Plan 

 28 November 2023  

1. Scrutiny Review – Witness Evidence 

2. Early Years 

 15 January 2024 

1. Bright Start and Families First for Children Pathfinder Programme Updates 

2. School Place Planning 

3. Quarter 2 Performance Report  

 

26 February 2024 

1. ISCB Report Annual 

2. Executive Member Report 

Page 85

Agenda Item B4



3. School Results 2023 

4. Scrutiny Review of SEN & Disabilities Transitions – 12-month update 

5. (TBD) Scrutiny Review – Witness Evidence 

  

 29 April 2024 

1. Scrutiny Review – Draft Recommendations 

2. Quarter 3 Performance Report 

3. SACRE Annual Report 

4. Update on Baseline Report for Supported Internships 

 

 

 

Page 86


	Agenda
	B1 Bright Start and Families First for Children Pathfinder Programme Updates
	Pathfinder and the future

	B2 School Organisation Scrutiny Update
	B3 Quarter 2 Performance Report
	CS Scrutiny - Basket of Indicators - Q2 2023-24
	Sheet1


	B4 Work Programme 2023/24

